Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article was published in an Elsevier journal. The attached copy is furnished to the author for non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the author's institution, sharing with colleagues and providing to institution administration.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1785 (2008) 12-31

www.elseviel.com/locate/or

Review

### Dynamic equilibrium between multiple active and inactive conformations explains regulation and oncogenic mutations in ErbB receptors

Meytal Landau, Nir Ben-Tal\*

Department of Biochemistry, George S. Wise Faculty of Life Sciences, Tel-Aviv University, 69978 Ramat-Aviv, Israel

Received 20 May 2007; received in revised form 8 August 2007; accepted 8 August 2007 Available online 22 August 2007

#### Abstract

The ErbB growth factor receptor family members are key players in vital physiological and pathological processes. Like other receptor tyrosine kinases, the ErbBs are bi-topic membrane proteins, whose extracellular and intracellular domains are connected by single transmembrane span. In recent years the crystal structures of the extracellular and intracellular domains of some ErbBs have been determined. We integrated the available structural information with phylogenetic, biochemical, biophysical, genetic, and computational data into a suggested model for the regulation and activation of these receptors. According to the model, regulation is maintained by a dynamic equilibrium between monomeric and dimeric states in various conformations. Along this dynamic equilibrium, variations in the points of interactions within the dimers alter the activation state and ligand-binding affinities. The active state was recently shown to be associated with an asymmetric dimer of the kinase domains. That finding enabled us to elucidate, in molecular terms, the directionality observed in the activation process of ErbB heterodimers; it can explain, for example, the preferential activation of ErbB2 by ErbB1 over activation of ErbB1 by ErbB2. Sequence alterations that reverse this directionality lead to aberrant signaling and cancer. Our model also offers molecular interpretations of the effects of various oncogenic alterations that interfere with the regulatory mechanism. © 2007 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Keywords: ErbB; EGFR; Molecular regulation; Pre-dimer; Functional and structural asymmetry

#### Contents

1.	Introduction				
2.	2. Mechanism of regulation in the ErbB family				
	2.1. Regulation by dimerization.	14			
	2.2. Regulation by the intracellular domain.	15			
	2.2.1. The inactive state	16			
	2.2.2. The active state	17			
	2.3. Regulation by the cytoplasmic juxtamembrane domain	17			
2.4. Regulation by the TM domain					
	2.5. Regulation by the extracellular domain				
	2.6. Interactions within the intracellular domains affect ligand-binding affinity	19			
3.	A multilayered model for the regulation of EGFR activity				
4.	Are all ErbBs regulated in the same way?				

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +972 3 6406709; fax: +972 3 6406834.

E-mail address: bental@ashtoret.tau.ac.il (N. Ben-Tal).

URL: http://ashtoret.tau.ac.il (N. Ben-Tal).

0304-419X/\$ - see front matter  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2007 Published by Elsevier B.V. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2007.08.001

Abbreviations: CDK, cyclin-dependent kinase; EGF, epidermal growth factor; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; JM, juxtamembrane; MSA, multiple sequence alignment; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; RTK, receptor tyrosine kinase; TM, transmembrane; wt, wild type

	4.1. Regulation of the ligand-less ErbB2 via its extracellular domain			20
	4.2.	Regulati	on of the kinase-dead ErbB3 via its TM domain	21
	4.3.	Regulati	on by the intracellular domain	21
		4.3.1.	Loss of intramolecular regulation in ErbB3	21
		4.3.2.	Negative regulation of all ErbBs by an inactive intracellular dimer	21
		4.3.3.	Functional and structural asymmetry of the active state	22
5.	The role of the ErbB family in pathologies.			
	5.1.	ErbBs a	nd cancer	23
		5.1.1.	Missense mutations in the regulatory activation loop	23
		5.1.2.	Mutations in the phosphate-binding (P)-loop.	24
		5.1.3.	Mutations at the interface of the active asymmetric dimer.	25
		5.1.4.	Mutations in the $\alpha$ C-helix and its surrounding regions	25
		5.1.5.	Mutations found in tumor cells that have not been yet analyzed in vitro	27
6.	Metho	ods		27
6.1. Evolutionary conservation analysis of the ErbB family				27
	6.2.	Structure	e prediction and analyses	27
App	endix .	ementary data	28	
References				

#### 1. Introduction

The four ErbB growth factor receptors are members of one of the most studied protein families in cancer research, also known as the HER family. ErbB1, the first member to be discovered, is also known as the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). The ErbB family is ubiquitously distributed throughout the animal kingdom [1], and plays an essential role in vital cellular processes such as proliferation, differentiation, migration, and apoptosis [2,3] as well as in various pathologies [4].

The ErbBs belong to the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) super-family [5], all of which are transmembrane (TM) proteins that are activated by the binding of extracellular ligands, such as the epidermal growth factor (EGF). Structurally they consist of an N-terminal extracellular ligand-binding domain, a single TM span, and a large intracellular domain that includes the catalytic kinase domain and a regulatory C-terminal domain (Fig. 1). Activation of the ErbBs induces phosphorylation of tyrosine residues that are located in the receptor's intracellular domain and serve as docking sites for other proteins, thereby allowing transfer of the signal into the cell. The complex signaling network of the RTKs in general, and of the ErbB family in particular, has been the focus of intensive research (see, e.g., [3,6,7]).

Interestingly, the second family member, ErbB2, lacks the capacity to bind ligands, and the third, ErbB3, has an inactive kinase [8]. Both are nevertheless vital to embryonic development, as are the EGFR and the fourth family member, ErbB4. This apparent paradox is explained by the fact that the basic functional unit in the signaling of the ErbB family, as in other RTKs, is a dimer. Thus, ErbB2 and ErbB3 operate by combining with other ErbBs to form heterodimers [3,9]. Phosphorylation of ErbB3 by its partner leads to a specific and unique signaling pathway, explaining the significance of ErbB3 despite its being catalytically defective.

The ErbBs mediate an essential cellular signaling network; consequently, their activation is subject to several layers of regulatory control [10]. We will focus on the molecular details

of the regulatory mechanisms that operate within the ErbB proteins. The regulatory role played by the extracellular and TM domains of the ErbBs has been extensively discussed. In contrast, most aspects of the regulatory mechanisms located in the intracellular domain have only recently been elucidated. Here we discuss the new developments and suggest a model of EGFR regulation, presented in Fig. 1, which integrates the multiple layers of control imposed by the various structural elements of this protein. The model is based on our two previous publications pertaining the regulatory roles of the TM and intracellular domains of the EGFR [11,12]. We are now able to incorporate additional information from a recently published crystal structures and biochemical experiments. The current model illustrates a mechanism of dynamic equilibrium, which is manifested by interconversions between different conformations of the receptor in the ligand-free state. Binding of ligand disrupts this equilibrium and invokes a consecutive process that triggers activation. In the first section of the review, we explain the regulation imposed within and between the receptor's different domains, which is illustrated in Fig. 1 and summarized in Section 3. Differences and similarities in regulatory mechanisms among the various ErbBs are elaborated in Section 4. In the fifth section, by referring to the regulatory model and an evolutionary conservation analysis of ErbBs from various species, we predict the molecular effect of cancer-causing mutations in the ErbBs. We note that the mechanisms of regulation of the EGFR might depend on the cell type and the stage of the cell cycle [7]. We do not cover processes that control ErbB functions at the cellular level, such as downregulation, degradation, recycling, endocytosis, and intracellular trafficking, as these are extensively discussed [3,4,6]. Other aspects of EGFR regulation were reviewed in [7,13-16].

#### 2. Mechanism of regulation in the ErbB family

The general scheme of the activation mechanism in RTKs involves binding of ligand to the extracellular domain, which leads to dimerization of the receptor followed by structural changes and phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in its intracellular domain [5]. Accumulating new evidence has resulted in fundamental extensions and modifications to the above basic mechanism in the ErbBs. These modifications are reviewed here.

#### 2.1. Regulation by dimerization

There are growing evidences that at least fraction of the ErbBs are clustered in the membrane, and random collisions that could lead to the formation of dimers and other oligomers are therefore very likely to occur [7,17-21]. As a result, it is anticipated that another layer of regulation, in addition to ligandbinding, is needed in order to prevent activation induced by random dimerization. For example, the formation of stable inactive dimers or oligomers could serve as a mechanism for the required control. Studies have indeed shown that although dimerization (which requires spatial proximity between two ErbBs) is a necessary step toward ligand-induced activation, such proximity is not in itself sufficient to promote activation [7,20,22–27].

Because the RTKs are multi-domain proteins, the term 'dimerization' should be used with caution, i.e., with implicit relevance to the location of interaction. As an example, mediation of contacts by the extracellular domain does not necessarily mean that the intracellular kinase domains directly interact, and vice versa. The location of contact formation between the two subunits has crucial implications for the activation state of the receptor (see Fig. 1).

As mentioned above, numerous studies have shown that the EGFR can form ligand-independent dimers, or 'pre-dimers'



[20–29]. Although some studies suggested that the percentage of EGFR oligomers on the cell surface is low in comparison to the monomers [19,29], a recent study demonstrated that, in the absence of ligand stimulation, the majority of EGFR and ErbB2 form dimeric structures on the cell surface in single live cells that express physiological levels of the receptors [20]. This result, which was obtained using a novel combination of two methods, single wavelength fluorescence cross-correlation spectroscopy (SW-FCCS) and Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET), is presumably most relevant to the physiological situation. EGF stimulation leads to additional and significant receptor clustering on the membrane [20].

The pre-dimers are probably inactive [7,22,28]. However, the nature of the specific interface within the dimers detected in those studies has yet to be fully elucidated. There are indications that all ErbBs display ligand-independent contact formation between their TM domains [25]. Recent work points out that the interactions between the TM domains are extremely modest [30]. However, these studies were conducted in micellar solutions and their relevance to the cellular environment is questionable. In addition to possible interactions within the TM domains, there is evidence that the cytoplasmic domain [22], and even more specifically, the kinase domain [23], are necessary for the formation of at least some of these ligand-independent dimers.

Binding of EGF to the pre-dimers on the cell surface displays much higher affinity than to the monomers [29] (see Section 2.5). It was suggested that pre-dimer formation helps facilitate the formation of active dimers, which is not limited by diffusion along the plasma membrane, even at low EGF concentrations [29]. Moreover, clustering of ErbBs in the membrane may contribute to a rapid spread of the signal through receptors that are not bound to the ligand, but are activated by their adjacent active dimers [7].



Fig. 2. Regulatory elements in the kinase domain. The kinase domain of the EGFR (residues 685–957) is depicted in a yellow ribbon representation, in its inactive (A) (PDB entry — 1gs7 [34]) and active (B) (PDB entry — 2gs6 [34]) conformations. Regions that are not ordered in the crystal structures are depicted by dashed lines. Regulatory elements are depicted by different colors: the activation loop (residues 831–852) in green, the  $\alpha$ C-helix (residues 729–745) in brown, the phosphate-binding loop (residues 695–700) in cyan, and the catalytic loop (residues 812–818) in purple. In panel B, the catalytic residue Asp813 (in purple) and the ATP-analog–peptide conjugate (colored by atom type: carbon in white, nitrogen in blue, oxygen in red, phosphate in orange, and sulphur in yellow) are displayed in a balls-and-sticks representation.

#### 2.2. Regulation by the intracellular domain

The kinase domain, which is located in the intracellular domain, is the catalytic unit in all RTKs. It is comprised of two subdomains, known as the N-terminal (N-) and the C-terminal (C-) lobes (Fig. 2). The phosphate donor (ATP), as well as the substrate designated for phosphorylation, binds in a cleft flanked by the two lobes. The ATP is held in position by a phosphatebinding loop (P-loop), which is located at the N-lobe. The substrate is positioned near the ATP's phosphates by the

Fig. 1. Regulation of the EGFR. The EGFR is represented by its main structural elements, namely the extracellular part, the TM domain, and the intracellular part comprising the kinase and C-terminal domains. Location of the membrane is marked by the brown bar. Panel A presents a scheme of the regulatory mechanism maintained by interconversion between multiple forms. We note that all forms in the ligand-free state are in dynamic equilibrium with one another. Two monomers of the EGFR are displayed, colored yellow and purple. Panel B displays a ribbon representation of crystal structures available for specific domains of the EGFR. The fragmentary structures are schematically combined here to illustrate the entire receptor in a few conformations that correspond to panel A. Regions for which a crystal structure is not available are depicted by dashed curves. The crystal structures of the extracellular domain are colored according to its subdomains (I in red, II in cyan, III in green and IV in magenta; for the dimer in form 'e', one of the monomers is in darker shades for clarity). The EGF ligand is represented by gray space-filled atoms. The TM helices are colored in two shades of gray. The kinase domains are colored in yellow and purple as in panel A. A fragment from the C-terminal domain that is available in the crystal structure is displayed as a tube, colored in darker shades of the color of the kinase domain on the same monomer. The ligand-free state is characterized by interconversion between many different conformations, while the scheme in panel A depicts only representative forms. In both panels, form 'a' stands for a monomeric conformation in which the kinase domain is inactive (residues 679–964; PDB entry - 2gs7 [34]). Form 'b' illustrates a dimeric form demonstrating the formation of an inactive intracellular complex (residues 672-995; PDB entry - 1m17 [32]), and the TM pair in the inactive state (the coordinates were taken from [11]). The extracellular domains in forms 'a-b' are predicted to alternate between tethered and extended conformations that are embodied by an abstract conformation in panel A. The crystal structure of the extracellular domain (forms 'a-b' in panel B) depicts only the tethered conformation in the ligand-free state (residues 2–614; PDB entry — 1YY9 [64]). Forms 'a-b', in which the extracellular domains are separated, are predicted to have a relatively low ligand-binding affinity. Based on experimental data (see main text) we predicted that an intracellular asymmetric dimer is one component of the high-affinity state. Forms 'c-d' display a dimeric conformation in which contact formation is mediated by the TM, the extracellular, and the intracellular domains. In these forms the extracellular domains assume an extended conformation allowing contact, which is likely to significantly increase the binding affinity of the receptors for the ligand. No structural information is available for such conformations of the extracellular domains, which are probably transient. The intracellular asymmetric dimer is comprised of activating (yellow) and activated (purple) monomers, which can potentially switch orientations (as illustrated in forms 'e-f'). The equilibrium between forms 'a', 'b' and 'c' is dependent on their inherent stability, while conversion to form 'd' is dependent on an unknown external factor that is depicted by a cyan polygon. We emphasize that the conformation assumed by form 'd' is entirely hypothetical. Binding of the growth factor ligands, depicted by green ovals in panel A (or gray spheres in panel B), induces conformational changes in the extracellular domains, including exposure of the 'dimerization arm' illustrated in forms 'e-f'. The ligand-bound extracellular domains (residues 2-512; PDB entry - 1IVO [68]) are in extended conformation, and allow contact formation between the two monomers. In this ligand-activated state the TM complex assumes the active conformation (the coordinates were taken from [11]). The kinase domains within the intracellular asymmetric dimer (residues 669–967; PDB entry — 2gs6 [34]) can potentially switch orientations, such that the activating and activated monomers exchange roles (forms 'e-f'; panel B illustrates only the structure corresponding to form 'e').

'activation loop' located in the C-lobe. In most RTKs the activation loop assumes a closed conformation in the inactive state, thereby preventing substrate binding. Activation involves conformational changes and phosphorylation of the activation loop [10,16,31]. These events are coupled to a concurrent movement of another regulatory element, the  $\alpha$ C-helix located in the N-lobe, into a final conformation that is catalytically competent. The actual catalytic process is performed by the highly conserved catalytic loop in the base of the active site located in the C-lobe. Catalysis requires that all the above regulatory elements are positioned in the proper spatial arrangement.

Until recently, it was thought that the constant state of the kinase domain of the EGFR and other ErbBs is the active conformation. This assumption was based on structural data, which showed that although the activation loop is not phosphorylated, all the regulatory elements of the EGFR's kinase domain are ready for catalysis [32]. That structure concurred with previous biochemical data showing that activation of the ErbB family is independent of their phosphorylated state [33]. Subsequently, when the crystal structure of the EGFR in complex with the large inhibitor GW572016 was determined, a putative inactive conformation of the kinase domain was observed. It was suspected, however, that this conformation was induced by the bulky inhibitor [12,34,35].

In contrast to the supposedly constant active conformation, biochemical data showed that the EGFR is not constantly active in cell membranes [5]; indeed, aberrant conditions (such as mutations in the EGFR) that lead to ligand-independent activation are known to be related to cancer. Thus, the phosphorylation-independent activation of the EGFR [33], as well as the lack of conformational regulation observed in the first crystal structure [32], prompted investigators to seek regulatory elements that govern the inhibition of the EGFR within the intracellular domain [12,34,36].

#### 2.2.1. The inactive state

In a recent study by Zhang and his co-workers [34] it was shown that the kinase domain of the EGFR indeed also possesses an inherently inactive conformation. Those authors demonstrated that the constitutive active conformation of the EGFR that was seen in the first crystal structure [32] was induced by intermolecular contacts within the crystal. A mutation in the kinase domain that disrupted such contacts led to the identification and determination of an inactive kinase conformation [34], which was very similar to the GW572016-bound structure [35].

The inactive conformation of the EGFR resembles those of the cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase Src and the serine/threonine cyclindependent kinases (CDKs) [34]. In this state the  $\alpha$ C-helix, together with the loop preceding it, forms contacts with the Nterminus of the activation loop, combining this threesome in an inactive conformation (Fig. 2A). Consequent displacement of the  $\alpha$ C-helix and the activation loop prevent the proper positioning of catalytically important elements (Fig. 2B). Any interference with the packing of the activation loop against the  $\alpha$ C-helix and its preceding loop, caused for example by mutations, would lead to increased auto-kinase activity and cell transformation [37]. These mutations will be discussed in Section 5.

2.2.1.1. The C-terminal domain serves as an auto-inhibitor via direct contacts with the kinase domain within a dimer. By and large, ErbB signaling and part of its regulation are mediated via the C-terminal domain. Following activation, phosphorylated tyrosines on the C-terminal domain serve as docking sites for the subsequent proteins in the signaling cascade, as well as for regulatory proteins that control processes such as internalization and degradation [3,4,38]. We recently suggested that a fragment from the C-terminal domain of the EGFR, immediately following the kinase domain, serves as an inherent auto-inhibitor of the receptor via its direct contacts with the kinase domain [12]. Other studies suggested that the same fragment in the C-terminal domain binds to the juxtamembrane (JM) domain via electrostatic interactions, and this contact mediates receptor dimerization [39].

The structures of the intracellular domain of the EGFR contain the kinase domain (residues 672–957; amino-acid numbers throughout the text are based on mature EGFR) and a fragment from the C-terminal domain (residues 958–995) [32,34,35]. According to our earlier analyses, the kinase domain of the EGFR displays two surface patches of positive electrostatic potential, one in the N-lobe and the other in the C-lobe, both located on the back side of the active site [12]. On the other hand, the C-terminal fragment that is present in the structure (residues 979–995) is highly negatively charged.

The structures of the wild-type (wt) EGFR kinase domain reveals a crystallographic symmetric dimer in which contacts between the two kinase domains are mediated by the two C-terminal fragments (Fig. 3) [32,34]. Within this dimer, each



Fig. 3. The symmetric inactive dimer of the kinase domain. Within the inactive symmetric crystallographic dimer, contacts between the two kinase domains (residues 672–966; depicted in yellow and light purple ribbon representations) are mediated by their following two C-terminal fragments (residues 982–964, depicted as space-filled atoms and colored in darker shades of the color of the kinase domain on the same monomer). Residues on the kinase domain that are in contact with the C-terminal fragment, and whose replacement was implicated in heightened basal activity (Lys828 and Ile942) or was found in cancer cells (Arg752), are depicted as space-filled atoms. Coordinates were taken from PDB entry — 1gs2 [34]. The biological relevancy of this crystallographic dimer is discussed in Section 2.2.1 above.

kinase domain contacts the two C-terminal fragments via its two positively charged surface patches. In addition to this charge complementarity, our previous analyses showed that the areas that are buried between each kinase domain and the two C-terminal fragments in this complex are extremely large (1419 Å and 1048 Å for the N- and C-lobe interfaces, respectively) [12]. Moreover, although the two kinase domains in the complex barely interact directly, they are connected via the C-terminal fragments through a network of salt bridges and hydrogen bonds [12]. Overall, based on the above computational analyses [12], this crystallographic complex appears to be stable. We also observed that one of the phosphorylation sites on the C-terminal domain (Tyr992) is buried within the complex and is inaccessible to phosphorylation [12]. Thus, we speculated that this complex represents an inactive form of the receptor (form 'b' in Fig. 1). As mentioned in Section 2.1, there are experimental indications for the existence of ligand-independent dimers, and that the cytoplasmic domain is involved in the contact formation [22,23]. We therefore suggested that the complex seen in the crystal structure might represent this ligand-independent dimer. The apparent stability of the crystal complex bears the potential to prevent ligand-independent activation induced by random contacts (see Section 2.1).

In accordance with the above model supporting the role of the C-terminal domain as an auto-inhibitor of the EGFR, variations in the C-terminal domain in naturally occurring retroviral oncogene variants (v-ErbB) are associated with malignant diseases because of their increased rate of auto-phosphorylation [40-46]. More specifically, engineered deletions or mutations in the C-terminal fragment in contact with the kinase domain in the crystal structure display heightened catalytic activity [34,38]. We predict such variations to cause destabilization of the inhibitory interactions between the kinase and the C-terminal domains, promoting activation [12]. Furthermore, specific replacements of four negatively charged residues on the C-terminal fragment (residues 979-982) by their polar equivalents resulted in higher auto-kinase activity and partial transforming phenotype [38], supporting the role of charge complementarity in the inhibition by the C-terminal domain. Correspondingly, substitution of alanine for the positively charged Lys828 (K828A), which participates in intramolecular interactions with the C-terminal domain (Fig. 3), resulted in higher basal activity of the receptor [34]. Interestingly, this residue participates in the abovementioned polar network of interactions that mediates the contacts within the symmetric dimer [12]. These results imply that the C-terminal domain indeed participate in inhibition via direct interactions with the kinase domain.

It was previously suggested that the monomeric inactive state of the kinase domain is stabilized by direct contacts between the kinase and the C-terminal domains [34,35]. However, *in vitro* experiments, conducted using a truncated form of the intracellular domain of the EGFR (residues 672–998) at a low concentration that mimics the monomeric form of the receptor, showed that the catalytic activity of the kinase domain is not altered by further truncation of the C-terminal fragment (residues 965–998) [34]. This implies that the C-terminal fragment does not participate in stabilizing the monomeric inactive conformation. On the other hand, at a high concentration of the EGFR that corresponds to the concentration at which dimers are formed, truncation of the C-terminal fragments greatly increased the inherent activity of the kinase domain [34]. Evidently, therefore, the effect of the C-terminal fragment is manifested only when the EGFR forms dimers. Interestingly, a mutation (I942E) in a residue which, according to the symmetric crystal dimer, contacts the C-terminal fragment of the adjacent monomer (Fig. 3), led to higher basal activity of the receptor [34], supporting the biological relevance of this dimer and its role in auto-inhibition.

Overall, according to our model, the inactive state of the EGFR involves an intracellular dimer that might resemble the symmetric dimer seen in crystals. This crystallographic complex, however, evidently does not play a role in the active state, as mutations in residues located on its interfaces did not alter the ligand-induced kinase activity of the EGFR [34].

#### 2.2.2. The active state

The exact conformation of the active state of the intracellular domain, after eluding investigators for years, was finally revealed by Zhang and his co-workers [34]. The crystal lattice of the EGFR includes, in addition to the symmetric dimer discussed in Section 2.2.1, an asymmetric dimer [32,34]. Through a series of comprehensive and elegant experiments, Zhang and his co-workers [34] showed that this asymmetric dimer represents the active form of the intracellular domain, in which one kinase activates its partner (forms 'e–f' in Fig. 1). Interestingly, the involvement of an asymmetric dimer in regulation was predicted a decade ago by Groenen et al. [47].

This asymmetric dimer closely resembles the complex between cyclinA and activated CDK2 [34] in which cyclinA serves as an activator of CDK2 [48]. In the asymmetric dimer of the EGFR, one kinase maintains contact with its partner through the C-lobe in a way that mimics the role of cyclinA. Thus, by analogy, we refer to it as the 'activating' monomer (the yellow kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1). The second kinase, which forms the dimeric interface via its N-lobe, mimics CDK2, and we therefore refer to it as the 'activated' monomer (the purple kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1). Interaction via the N-lobe leads to displacement of all the regulatory elements into the catalytically active conformation.

#### 2.3. Regulation by the cytoplasmic juxtamembrane domain

The region immediately following the TM domains, termed the JM domain (residues 645-672), also plays a role in regulation [36,39,49]. An EGFR mutant that sustained a deletion of the JM segment (residues 645-657) displayed similar basal activity to that of the wt EGFR, but lost its ability to interact with a second EGFR molecule and to undergo ligand-induced phosphorylation [39]. Accordingly, this region can be expected to be involved in the active dimeric state, but not in auto-inhibition. Nevertheless, there are evidences that phosphorylation of Thr654 and Thr669, both located on the JM domain, by protein kinase C/D (PKC/D), inhibits some of the signal transduction cascades followed by the activation of the EGFR [50-52]. This suggests that the JM domain has the potential to play a role in inhibition. The JM segment carries a positive net charge and was therefore suggested to bind to a negatively charged fragment on the C-terminal domain (residues 979–991) [39], or, alternatively, to the negatively charged inner leaflet of the membrane [36]. It was further suggested that binding of the negatively charged  $Ca^{2+}$ /calmodulin complex would repel the JM domain from the membrane, with subsequent possible rearrangement of the kinase domain into an active state [36,49,53]. Initial activation of the EGFR leads to a transient increase in the cellular level of free  $Ca^{2+}$ , thereby activating the  $Ca^{2+}$ /calmodulin complex [36,49]. Taken together, therefore, these studies suggested that binding of the  $Ca^{2+}$ /calmodulin complex to the JM domain might serve to amplify the initial signal by subsequently activating large numbers of additional receptors.

There are pieces of evidence that phosphorylation by PKC or glutamate substitution of Thr654 can block the binding of calmodulin to the EGFR [54,55], while, conversely, binding of calmodulin blocks phosphorylation by PKC [54]. Thus, the addition of a negative charge on Thr654 probably electrostatically interferes with calmodulin binding. On the other hand, the addition of a negative charge on Thr699, also located on the JM domain, did not affect the binding of calmodulin [54]. Overall, the mechanisms by which the JM domain contributes to the regulation of the EGFR still have to be determined.

#### 2.4. Regulation by the TM domain

The TM domain of the ErbBs is more than a passive peptide anchoring the receptors to the membrane; it also serves as an additional layer of regulation [56]. The ErbB TM domain has an inherent tendency to associate in the membrane in two different forms that are mediated by two different dimerization motifs [11,25]. Based on energy considerations, our earlier computational analysis assigned these dimerization motifs in ErbB2 to the inactive (form 'b' in Fig. 1) and active (forms 'c-f' in Fig. 1) states and suggested that the TM dimers could switch between these two states by rotating through 120° in a screw-like motion [11,57]. This and other studies suggested a rotation-coupled activation mechanism in which ligand binding induces a rotational change in the TM helices from the inactive to the active conformation [11,58]. The change in conformation is translated into reorientation of the intracellular kinase domains, leading to activation (Fig. 1) [11,12,26,27,58]. This molecularswitch model provided an explanation, at the molecular level, for known ErbB2 mutants or naturally occurring variants [11]. For example, the V664E oncogenic mutation in the rat ErbB2 (Neu) [59], which is located within one of the dimerization motifs, was predicted to induce a shift toward the active conformation and hence toward enhanced activation [11]. It is noteworthy that although a similar substitution in the human ErbB2 showed elevated ability to transform cells [60], this variation in ErbB2 was not detected in human cancer cells, probably since it requires the substitution of 2 bp. Nevertheless, another mutation (Ile654Val) in the TM domain of ErbB2 was clinically shown to be associated with an elevated risk for breast cancer [61]. We note that a bias, presumably negligible, resulting from the presence of another mutation, was later reported in the genotyping

of this ErbB2 variant [62]. The observed existence of oncogenic mutations or variations in the TM domain of the rat and human ErbB2 [56,59,61,63] further supports a regulatory role for this domain.

It is interesting to note that in the predicted inactive conformation, the TM segments interact through the dimerization motif located at the C-terminal part of the helix, resulting in close proximity of its intracellular ends ( $\sim 9$  Å), as illustrated in form 'b' in Fig. 1. Rotation to the active state, mediated by the N-terminal dimerization motif (forms 'c-f' in Fig. 1), would impose a larger distance ( $\sim 19$  Å) between the cytoplasmic ends of these helices [11]. Correspondingly, the N-termini of the putatively inactive intracellular dimer are much closer to each other ( $\sim 20$  Å; form 'b' in Fig. 1B) than in the active asymmetric dimer (~50 Å; form 'e' in Fig. 1B). In addition, switching of the TM domains to the active state brings their extracellular ends closer to one another. This is probably followed by contact formation between the extracellular domains (forms 'c-f' in Fig. 1). Thus, in accordance with the rotation-coupled activation mechanism, the activation state of the TM helices allows leverage that controls the positions of the intracellular and extracellular domains.

#### 2.5. Regulation by the extracellular domain

In recent years, a growing body of structural information has led to substantial progress in understanding the mechanisms of ErbB regulation by their extracellular domains. The ligand-free structures of the extracellular domains of EGFR [64], ErbB3 [65], and ErbB4 [66] display a tethered auto-inhibited state, while the EGFR's ligand-bound extracellular domain [67,68] shows an extended conformation that allows contact formation between two subunits (Fig. 1B). Interestingly, the 'orphan' (ligand-less) receptor ErbB2 resembles the ligand-bound active conformation of the EGFR [69,70].

The role of the extracellular domain in regulation of the ErbBs, excluding ErbB2, is to impose a ligand-mediated activation [7,71]. Indeed, truncation of the extracellular domain, as seen in viral ErbB variants that are related to oncogenic transformation, leads to ligand-independent activation of the receptors [42]. These findings also suggest that other domains, namely the TM and intracellular parts, possess an inherent ability to interact and to become activated.

The structure of the extracellular domain has been described in detail in a few comprehensive reviews (e.g., [15,71]). In brief, it comprises four subdomains, termed I–IV (Fig. 1B). In the inactive conformation, subdomains II and IV interact to lock the structure of the extracellular domains of ErbB-1, -3, and -4 in a tethered, putatively inactive conformation [72] (forms 'a–b' in Fig. 1B). Biochemical experiments indicate, however, that other elements in the extracellular domain are probably also involved in the auto-inhibition [73,74]; thus, the available structures do not yet provide the whole story of inactivation [7]. In the extended dimeric ligand-bound conformation, each growth factor ligand binds one extracellular domain through subdomains I and III [67,68] (form 'e' in Fig. 1B). Contacts between the two EGFR extracellular domains are mediated solely by the receptors, mainly

by a loop (the 'dimerization arm') in subdomain II [68]. Mutations in this loop prevent ligand-induced activation [67,68].

Measurements of the binding affinity of EGF to its receptor pointed to the existence of two different EGFR populations on the cell surface, each with its own ligand-binding affinity [7,71]. It was proposed that 92-95% of the receptors exhibit low-affinity binding, with a  $K_d$  of approximately 6–12 nM. These receptors were predicted to assume the tethered conformation of the extracellular domain, in which the two subdomains responsible for making contact with the ligand are far apart, allowing the ligand to make contact with only one of two interfaces [65,71,72]. Some 2-5% of the receptors were proposed to bind EGF with high affinity, with a  $K_d$  below 0.1 nM, and these were considered to assume the extended conformation that brings the two ligandbinding subdomains closer [29,65,71,72]. However, mathematical models describing the kinetics of interactions between EGF and its receptor showed that there is no direct correlation between the conformations seen in the crystal structures and the two different binding affinity populations [75]. Recent findings suggested that the low-affinity population actually corresponds to an ensemble of conformations that are related to interconversion between the tethered and the extended forms of the extracellular domain [74]. The conformation of the high-affinity state is less well characterized and is thought to involve additional elements, such as other proteins [76,77] (form 'd' in Fig. 1A) as well as cell regulatory mechanisms such as endocytosis and degradation [75]. Moreover, the high-affinity binding is totally dependent on specific regions within the intracellular domains [74,77,78] (see also Section 2.6).

Overall, it was suggested that the low- and high-affinity binding modes, which appear macroscopically as two distinct populations that do not interact, rather represent interconversion between multiple conformations [77]. Some of these conformations are presented in the dynamic equilibrium presented in Fig. 1, where each form displays its own distinctive binding affinity and specific probability, based on its inherent stability. Conformations that display lower affinity for the ligand are presumably more stable energetically than the higher affinity conformations; this would explain the above macroscopic estimation that the binding affinity of 92-95% of the receptors is low. Nevertheless, the ligand preferably traps the less stable, high-affinity conformations. In the high-affinity state, the specific orientation of the TM and intracellular domains may trigger contact formation between the monomers' extracellular domains (forms 'c-d' in Fig. 1A), although not necessarily in exactly the same manner as in the ligand-bound dimer (forms 'e-f' in Fig. 1A) [56]. Accordingly, a recent single-molecule analysis of EGF binding on the surface of living cells predicted that the macroscopic high-affinity population is represented by pre-dimers, which bind EGF at a rate two orders of magnitude higher than that of binding by the monomeric receptor [29].

As a result of ligand binding, the formation of contacts between the two monomers is further stabilized, thereby shifting the equilibrium toward the ligand-activated state [29,71] (forms 'e-f' in Fig. 1A). Recent findings predicted the formation of a kinetic intermediate following binding of the first EGF and prior to binding of the second [29]. Thus, binding of one EGF to the pre-dimer may induce allosteric conformational changes that enhance the binding of the second EGF, hence displaying positive cooperativity [29].

Somatic or engineered alterations in the extracellular domain can potentially shift the equilibrium (depicted in Fig. 1) by thermodynamically stabilizing or destabilizing specific forms, thereby modifying the macroscopically measured ligandbinding affinity. For example, interference with the tethered conformation by mutations may lead to a higher average of the low-affinity binding mode by shifting the equilibrium toward the extended conformations [65,72]. On the other hand, alterations in the dimerization interface in the extracellular domain could destabilize contact formation and weaken the interaction between the EGFR and EGF, eventually lowering the inherent binding affinity [73].

## 2.6. Interactions within the intracellular domains affect ligand-binding affinity

As suggested in Section 2.5, the macroscopically measured low-affinity mode of binding of ligand to the EGFR is actually an average of the binding affinities of few different conformations that undergo interconversion. Interestingly, this average binding affinity could be modulated by intracellular elements, probably through shifts between conformations in the equilibrium scheme. For example, deletion of a fragment from the C-terminal domain (residues 984-996) resulted in an increase in the average binding affinity of the low-affinity mode by approximately threefold [78]. A similar effect was reported for a Y992E mutation within this region [77]. The same C-terminal fragment mediates the putatively inactive dimer (Fig. 3) discussed in Section 2.2.1. We previously suggested that deletion of this fragment would destabilize the dimer [12] (form 'b' in Fig. 1), allowing more abundant ligand-independent formation of the asymmetric intracellular dimer (forms 'c-d' in Fig. 1A), which displays high-affinity binding. Overall, the effects of the mutations would result, on average, in higher binding affinity [77,78].

The macroscopically measured high-affinity mode, representing only 2-5% of the receptors, may reflect thermodynamically unstable high-affinity conformations that undergo interconversion with the more stable low-affinity forms. A clue to the conformations of the high-affinity state comes from engineered alterations to the receptors, where truncation of the entire intracellular domain resulted in the complete loss of high-affinity binding [74,79]. More specifically, two regions were described as particularly crucial for high-affinity binding, namely the segment comprising residues 921 to 940, and the last 63 residues at the Cterminal end of the protein. Deletion of either of these regions completely abolished the high-affinity binding mode [78,79]. It was suggested that the C-terminal end of the intracellular domain might comprise a binding site for external regulators that stabilize a high-affinity state [77] (form 'd' in Fig. 1A). Deletion of this region would prevent the formation of this high-affinity form. Interestingly, we note that the other segment related to highaffinity binding (residues 921-940) comprises a large part of the interface within the active dimer. That finding led us to suspect that at least some of the high-affinity conformations could be correlated with the formation of the active asymmetric intracellular dimer, as represented by forms 'c-d' in Fig. 1A. We suggest that deletion of this region might disrupt the active intracellular dimer, thereby shifting the dynamic equilibrium toward lower affinity forms. This model raises a question: does part of the high-affinity class (form 'c' in Fig. 1A) represent a ligand-independent active state that might be responsible for the basal activity of the receptor?

It should be emphasized that the high-affinity state is still only poorly understood and that not all of the experimental results obtained to date in this field can be satisfactorily explained. Accordingly, the high-affinity forms presented in Fig. 1 are provisional and presumably represent only a fraction of the conformations comprising the high-affinity state.

## **3.** A multilayered model for the regulation of EGFR activity

Research on EGFR regulation recently reached a critical stage, at which the accumulated experimental data and models are converging in support of a unified mechanism of receptor activation. In this scheme, each of the domains in the EGFR constitutes an additional level in the regulatory mechanism. In the ligand-free state the receptors shift between multiple monomeric and pre-dimeric forms. In the monomeric form, the kinase domain assumes an inherently inactive conformation that prevents catalytic activity (form 'a' in Fig. 1). In the dimeric form, the TM helical segments preferentially interact through the dimerization motif located at the C-terminal part of the helix, resulting in close proximity of the intracellular ends to one another, but a substantial distance between the two extracellular ends (form 'b' in Fig. 1). In this conformation the two intracellular domains interact with one another, for example, they form the inactive crystallographic dimer in which the N-termini are close to each other while the extracellular domains are separated. This dimeric conformation is catalytically inactive. In both the monomeric and the dimeric inactive states (forms 'a-b' in Fig. 1) the extracellular domain might assume either tethered or extended conformations that undergo interconversion, each displaying its distinctive affinity for the growth factor ligands.

A small energy barrier separates the stable inactive form from the less stable active form of the TM dimer, mediated by the C- and the N-terminal motifs, respectively [11]. Thus, we assume that, while in the ligand-free state, the active TM dimer could be populated to some extent in which the cytoplasmic ends of the monomers are far apart and the extracellular ends are close together (forms 'c-d' in Fig. 1A). This would lead to the destabilization of the inactive intracellular dimer, prompting the formation of the active asymmetric intracellular dimer in which the N-termini are distant from one another, and hence possibly to transient activation of the receptor (form 'c' in Fig. 1A). This state could also be stabilized by binding of regulatory proteins (form 'd' in Fig. 1A). At the same time, the close proximity of the extracellular ends of the TM segments would lead to contact formation between the extracellular domains. These conformations would typify the high-affinity ligand-binding mode.

According to the model, the ligand-free state is characterized microscopically by dynamic equilibrium between different

conformations (forms 'a–d' in Fig. 1). Because the low-affinity forms ('a–b') possess greater thermodynamic stability than the high-affinity forms ('c–d'), the equilibrium results in what is macroscopically measured as a large population of receptors displaying a low-affinity binding mode. On the other hand, receptors that assume the high-affinity forms ('c–d') are responsible for what appears macroscopically as a small population of high-affinity receptors.

Although contact formation between the extracellular domains in the ligand-free state (forms 'c-d' in Fig. 1A) induces highaffinity binding, these forms do not necessarily resemble the ligand-bound dimers (forms 'e-f' in Fig. 1A) [56]. Binding of the growth factor ligand stabilizes an active extracellular domain dimer (depicted by exposure of the dimerization arm in forms 'e-f' in Fig. 1). This in turn stabilizes the active conformation of the TM helical pair that promotes stable formation of the active intracellular dimer. The implicit assumption here is that the JM domain, connecting the TM helix to the kinase domain, is rigid, as predicted by McLaughlin et al. [36]. Because the intracellular dimer is asymmetric, it could presumably be composed of two possible monomeric orientations (forms 'e-f' in Fig. 1). Overall, the equilibrium is strongly shifted toward the catalytically active state.

#### 4. Are all ErbBs regulated in the same way?

The ErbB family is ubiquitously distributed throughout the animal kingdom. There are four family members in vertebrates, whereas invertebrates have only one. The first gene duplication, in the early divergence of the vertebrates, generated the ErbB1/ ErbB2 and ErbB3/ErbB4 precursors, each of which underwent a second gene duplication event to generate the four receptors present in vertebrates [1]. The unique sequence of each of these four isoforms dictates their particular regulation and signaling. Some examples are described below. The presence of only one ErbB isoform in invertebrates implies that most aspects of its regulatory mechanisms differ from those in vertebrates [1]. In this review we focus on the evolutionary conservation of ErbBs in species that diverged after the generation of four isoforms.

## 4.1. Regulation of the ligand-less ErbB2 via its extracellular domain

ErbB2 is unique among the ErbBs in that it lacks the layer of inhibitory regulation that is provided by the extracellular domain, which imposes ligand-induced activation. Ligand-free ErbB2 assumes the extended, otherwise ligand-bound conformation of the EGFR [69,70]. Accordingly, the extracellular domain of ErbB2 exhibits sequence variations in residues that participate in inter-subdomain interactions stabilizing the tethered conformation and which are conserved in ErbB-1, -3 and -4. Moreover, ErbB2 undergoes additional inter-subdomain interactions that mimic ligand-mediated contacts in the other ErbBs. Correspondingly, conserved residues that participate in ligand binding in other ErbBs are replaced in ErbB2 by residues that can participate in the inter-subdomain interactions [71]. Regardless of the constantly extended conformation of its extracellular domain, ErbB2 does not show a tendency to form active homodimers [80]. This might be due to electrostatic repulsion by negative charges on the predicted interface [71]. Nevertheless, ErbB2 efficiently forms heterodimers with other ErbBs [8]. Like ErbB2, ErbB3 is also reluctant to form homodimers, even in response to its ligand, neuregulin [81]. Nevertheless, neuregulin readily induces the formation of the most prevalent and highly efficient ErbB3–ErbB2 heterodimers [8].

#### 4.2. Regulation of the kinase-dead ErbB3 via its TM domain

As mentioned above, the TM segments of most ErbBs display two dimerization motifs and it was suggested that they correspond to the active and inactive conformations [11]. Interestingly, the kinase-dead ErbB3 contains only the dimerization motif that corresponds to the active state according to this suggestion [11]. Thus, ErbB heterodimers that contain ErbB3 have probably lost the layer of negative regulation imposed by the TM domains and hence more readily favor the active conformation. The indications that ErbB2 and ErbB3 lost negative regulation in their extracellular and TM domains, respectively, could explain the observation that ErbB2–ErbB3 heterodimers are extremely potent [8,82].

#### 4.3. Regulation by the intracellular domain

#### 4.3.1. Loss of intramolecular regulation in ErbB3

The monomeric inherent inactive conformation of the kinase domain is stabilized by packing of the activation loop against the  $\alpha$ C-helix and its preceding loop [34], for example via contacts

between residues Ile735 and Leu837 and between Met742 and Leu834 (Fig. 4B). It is interesting to note that these residues, which are putatively important for the packing, show some variation in ErbB3 (Fig. 4C), whereas they are conserved among other ErbBs. Mutations in these positions have also been found to correlate with malignancy, presumably because of destabilization of the active state; this is discussed further in Section 5.1.1. Overall, our structural and sequence analyses suggest that there are fewer constraints on stabilization of the inherent inactive conformation of the kinase domain of ErbB3 than of other ErbBs. This observation is consistent with the reported lack of intramolecular activity in the kinase-dead ErbB3 [8]. Nevertheless, we have to take into account the activation of another ErbB member by heterodimerization with ErbB3. Accordingly, as described below, the regulation imposed by intermolecular interactions (e.g., via formation of an inactive intracellular dimer) is still maintained in ErbB3.

## 4.3.2. Negative regulation of all ErbBs by an inactive intracellular dimer

The symmetric and presumably inactive crystallographic EGFR dimer (Fig. 3) shows charge complementarity between the kinase and the C-terminal domains at the interfaces, as described in Section 2.2.1. The positively charged residues on the interfaces in the kinase domain are highly conserved in all four ErbBs. Accordingly, our previous analyses, based on predicted structures, demonstrated that all of the human ErbBs display positively charged patches at the corresponding regions [12]. Evolutionary conservation analyses and electrostatic



Fig. 4. Destabilizing mutations in regulatory regions. The kinase domain of the EGFR (residues 685-957) is depicted in a yellow ribbon representation. Regulatory elements are depicted by different colors: the activation loop (residues 831-852) in green, the  $\alpha$ C-helix (residues 729-745) in brown, the phosphate-binding loop (residues 695-700) in cyan, and the catalytic loop (residues 812-818) in purple. A disordered region within the activation loop is depicted by a dashed curve. Residues shown by mutagenesis to be crucial for stabilizing the inherent inactive conformation of the kinase domain of the EGFR are depicted as space-filled atoms. (A) Active kinase domain of the EGFR (PDB entry — 2gs6 [34]). (B) Inactive kinase domain of the EGFR (PDB entry — 1gs7 [34]). (C) Model of the catalytically inactive kinase domain of ErbB3. (D) Scheme illustrating alterations of the regulatory model (shown in Fig. 1A) by mutations, e.g., in residues Ile735, Met742, Leu834, and Leu837, which are shown in panels A and B. According to the model, the mutations (indicated by red stars) would cause destabilization of the inherent inactive conformation, leading to the formation of an active kinase domain whose phosphorylation is independent of the ligand or intermolecular contacts (form a\*). Binding of ligand induces formation of the active dimer (forms e\*-f\*) that can potentially phosphorylate in *trans* and hence further increase the rate of auto-phosphorylation.

calculations show that those interfaces are not common to other tyrosine kinases [12]. In addition, the C-terminal fragment in contact with the kinase domain in the crystal structure in all ErbBs contains mostly negatively charged residues, even though the entire C-terminal domain is not generally conserved [1]. This implies that the electrostatic complementarity between the kinase domain and the C-terminal fragment might be important for controlling the activity of homo- and heterodimers in the entire ErbB family.

#### 4.3.3. Functional and structural asymmetry of the active state

The active state of the intracellular domain is characterized by formation of an asymmetric dimer of the kinase domains, in which one monomer activates the other [34]. It was previously shown that ErbB heterodimers could phosphorylate in trans, i.e., that the active monomer could phosphorylate its neighbor within the dimer, as for example in the apparent phosphorylation of the kinase-dead ErbB3 by its partner [3]. Moreover, the phosphorylation pattern of an ErbB member, and thus the subsequent signal transduction pathways, is dependent on its dimerization partner [83]. Phosphorylation of both kinases would necessitate a switch between the orientations of the two subunits (illustrated by the transition between forms 'e' and 'f' in Fig. 1A). The structural asymmetry implies that at any given time only one of the kinases is catalytically active (represented by the purple kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1) and can phosphorylate the Cterminal domain of its partner, namely the activating monomer (represented by the yellow kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1). Interestingly, some ErbB heterodimers show preference for the formation of a specific orientation within the asymmetric dimer, as discussed further below.

4.3.3.1. The kinase-dead ErbB3 favors the role of activating monomer. In heterodimers that include ErbB3, only one direction of interaction, in which ErbB3 is the activating subunit, is functionally productive. Evolutionary conservation analysis of the ErbBs suggests that the interface of the activating monomer within the asymmetric dimer (yellow kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1) is conserved among all four ErbBs. In contrast, most residues comprising the interface of the activated monomer (purple kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1) are conserved only in ErbB-1, -2, and -4, while ErbB3 shows sequence variations. Presumably, therefore, an interface in which ErbB3 assumes the position of the activated subunit is energetically less stable. We note that this analysis, which was based on 36 ErbBs from vertebrates and viruses (see Methods), reproduced the conclusions drawn by Zhang and coworkers [34] that were based on a smaller set of human and mouse ErbB sequences.

4.3.3.2. ErbB2 favors the role of the activating monomer within EGFR-ErbB2 heterodimers. ErbB2, uniquely among ErbBs, possesses an additional layer of regulation, mediated by molecular chaperones (primarily Hsp90) that normally help to stabilize the receptor on the cell surface [80,84]. Hsp90 binds to ErbB2 and restrains signaling by limiting the formation of heterodimers of ErbB2 with other ErbBs, which would require the stripping of Hsp90 [80]. Binding of Hsp90 to ErbB2 is

mediated through the loop that follows the  $\alpha$ C-helix, and specifically within residues Gly776-Ser783 [80]. This region is located close to the asymmetric active dimer's interface, which is contributed by the N-lobe of the activated monomer (purple kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1). Accordingly, we hypnotize that binding of Hsp90 might lead to the preferential formation of EGFR-ErbB2 heterodimers in which EGFR is found in the position of the active monomer (purple kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1) that phosphorylates the C-terminal domain of ErbB2 (yellow kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1). In accordance with the above hypothesis, some pieces of evidence suggest that within EGFR-ErbB2 heterodimers, a catalytically competent EGFR is required for the signaling of ErbB2, both in normal and in cancerous conditions [85,86]. Furthermore, the signal transduction mediated by ErbB2 is blocked by the EGFR-specific kinase inhibitor gefitinib [87,88].

Taken as a whole, the experimental evidence corresponds to a preferred asymmetric formation of an EGFR–ErbB2 heterodimer, in which the EGFR is activated by ErbB2 and phosphorylates it, leading to cellular signaling that is specific to ErbB2. This asymmetry might be related to the binding of Hsp90 to ErbB2, as mentioned above. It is interesting to note that alteration in the Hsp90-binding loop, as in a certain oncogenic mutant discussed in Section 5.1.4, changes the normal orientation within EGFR–ErbB2 dimers. Overall, the above findings elegantly manifest the asymmetry in the ErbBs' function within heterodimers and its importance for normal signaling. This functional asymmetry can now be clarified by the structural asymmetry of the active state observed by Zhang and co-workers [34].

In the case of heterodimerization between ErbB2 and the kinase-dead ErbB3, ErbB2 must play the role of the activated monomer, which probably requires pre-striping of Hsp90. Indeed, inhibition of Hsp90 potentiates the formation of active ErbB2-ErbB3 heterodimers [80]. Since ErbB2 and ErbB3 lost the negative regulatory layer imposed by the extracellular and TM domains, respectively (see Sections 4.1 and 4.2), their heterodimerization is extremely potent [8] despite the restrains imposed by Hsp90. We note that the binding of Hsp90 to the active dimerization interface apparently provides an additional explanation at the molecular level of the reluctance of ErbB2 to form active homodimers [80], in addition to limitation imposed by the extracellular domain [71] (see Section 4.1).

#### 5. The role of the ErbB family in pathologies

Aberrant activation of the ErbBs has been described mostly in relation to cancer [2,89]. However, activation of the EGFR was found to be related also to kidney lesions, and ErbB4 and its ligand neuregulin-1 are involved in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Moreover, both EGFR and ErbB2 bind to and are activated by viruses and bacteria, which is a requirement for the pathogens' biological activity [4]. All of the above ErbBassociated pathological processes require activation of the receptors. Deficiency of ErbBs would be extremely damaging and even lethal to the developing embryo, which is presumably why it is not observed clinically.

#### 5.1. ErbBs and cancer

EGFR is highly expressed in many cases of non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLC) (88–99%) [90], head and neck cancers (80%) [91], and gliomas (40%), as well as in some pancreatic and breast tumors [3,92]. Amplification and over-expression of ErbB2 have been demonstrated in 20–25% of breast cancers and also occur, albeit at lower frequencies, in lung, pancreatic, colon, endometrial and ovarian cancers [3,93,94]. Accordingly, the ErbB family has become an attractive target for anticancer therapy [95].

Regardless of its frequent involvement in cancers, overexpressed EGFR is still dependent on its ligand, EGF, for activation [37,96]; over-expression in itself is not prognostic of survival in NSCLC [90]. Correspondingly, regardless of the high percentage of EGFR involvement in NSCLC, only a small fraction of patients benefit from treatment with specific EGFR kinase inhibitors. Mutations were recently detected in the kinase domain of the EGFR in these patients [97,98] and proved to be oncogenic, i.e., to increase the receptor's basal kinase activity [37,90,96,99,100]. We suggest that these findings are related to the fact that random contact formation, induced by overexpression, is not by itself sufficient to provoke activation, although, statistically speaking, it probably increases the amount of active receptors within the cell. More prominent effects on activation are probably displayed by mutations that have the potential to alter the inherent activity of the receptor or to shift the dynamic equilibrium in Fig. 1 toward the active state.

Numerous mutations in ErbB family members have been detected in tumor tissues. For example, mutations in EGFR were found to occur in approximately 20% of lung cancers [101]. Mutations in ErbB2 have been reported in lung cancers, although at lower rates than EGFR mutations (1-4%) [93,102-108], as well as in gastric, colorectal and breast cancers [105]. The mutations found in the EGFR and ErbB2 appear to be mutually exclusive, as they have never been found together in individual tumors or cell lines [101,102,109]. Interestingly, most of the alterations found in ErbB2 overlap with the analogous structural regions of those found in the EGFR [93], suggesting that they are functional [102]. Correspondingly, some of the prevalent mutations in EGFR and ErbB2 have been experimentally examined and found to be oncogenic (these mutations are listed in the supplementary information as Table 1S). However, the functional effect of rarer alterations (listed in Table 2S in the Supplementary information) is less clear [102]. Recently, mutations in ErbB4 were also detected in NSCLC, as well as in gastric, colorectal and breast carcinomas, although at lower frequencies (1-3%) than mutations in the EGFR [108].

In the following sections we use the regulation model shown in Fig. 1A to suggest molecular interpretations, based on structural and evolutionary considerations, of the effect of known cancer-causing mutations. We use the same framework to predict the possible effects of other ErbB mutations found in cancer cells that have not been characterized experimentally (listed in Table 2S).

#### 5.1.1. Missense mutations in the regulatory activation loop

In the inactive state of the EGFR, the activation loop (residues 831–852) is packed against the  $\alpha$ C-helix (residues 729–745) and its preceding loop (residues 723-728) such that the elements needed for catalysis are misplaced (Fig. 2). Destabilization of the packing will cause a shift toward the activated state of the kinase domain. Such an effect was indeed predicted for the oncogenic mutations L834R, which represents 41-43% of the mutations in lung cancers, and for L837Q (L858R and L861Q in pre-mature EGFR numbering, respectively) [101,109]. L834 and L837 are located on the activation loop and participate in interactions with hydrophobic residues in the  $\alpha$ C-helix in the inactive conformation (Fig. 4B), while in the active conformation they are quite exposed to the solvent (Fig. 4A). Correspondingly, mutations in these hydrophobic residues with polar/charged ones lead to a ligand-independent activation [37,90,96,99,100], via destabilization of the inactive monomeric state [34]. In accordance with clinical findings, both EGFR mutants are more sensitive than the wt to inhibition by specific kinase inhibitors, which preferentially bind to the active conformation of the kinase domain [90,96–100]. This further suggests that the mutants preferentially assume the active conformation. Furthermore, neither L834R nor L837Q appears to impair the maximal response to EGF [37], implying that the conformation of the mutants' kinase domain could be fully competent for catalysis.

The ligand-free state of the EGFR is characterized by interconversion between several conformations, each displaying a different binding affinity for the growth factors (Fig. 1A). Because, according to the model, the lower affinity conformations are energetically more stable than the higher affinity conformations, macroscopic measurements of binding affinities point to large and small populations of low- and high-affinity receptors, respectively, as discussed in Section 2.5. We noted above that alterations in EGFR can potentially affect the overall activity and ligand-binding affinity of the receptor by interference with the dynamic equilibrium depicted in Fig. 1. Mutations such as L834R and L837Q, which destabilize the inactive monomeric conformation of the kinase domain, are expected to induce monomers having ligand-independent, catalytically competent kinase domains that are sufficient to transduce signals (form a\* in Fig. 4D). In addition, the L834R mutation displays approximately twofold higher affinity for EGF in what was macroscopically measured as the low-affinity binding mode [37]. The effect is rather small, but microscopically, this mutation may shift the dynamic equilibrium in the ligand-free state toward higher affinity forms. Nevertheless, the EGFR mutants could not entirely mimic the ligand-bound active state because binding of the ligand further increased auto-phosphorylation of the receptor [37]. This latter event may be related to further stabilization of active dimers by the binding of the ligand; these dimers could phosphorylate in *trans* (forms 'e-f' in Figs. 1A and 4D).

Interestingly, similarly to the EGFR, other ErbB members as well as other kinases also displayed substitutions in the positions corresponding to Leu834 and Leu837 (Table 1S). Overall, the high frequency of mutations in these two positions points to their crucial importance for regulation. A reasonable assumption is



Fig. 5. Mutations in the phosphate-binding loop. The kinase domain of the EGFR (residues 685–957) is depicted in a yellow ribbon representation. Regulatory elements are depicted by different colors: the activation loop (residues 831–852) in green, the  $\alpha$ C-helix (residues 729–745) in brown, the phosphate-binding loop (residues 695–700) in cyan, and the catalytic loop (residues 812–818) in purple. Position 695 is displayed in a balls-and-sticks representation. (A) The wt EGFR (PDB entry — 2gs6 [34]). (B) Model of the G695S mutant found in cancer cells.

that EGFR alterations that destabilize the inherent inactive state of the kinase domain are likely to be oncogenic. Correspondingly, it is interesting to note that mutations in additional residues that contribute to packing of the activation loop in the inactive state, for example I735A and M742A located on the  $\alpha$ C-helix (Fig. 4B), show robust elevated basal activity *in vitro*, although they were not detectable in tumor cells [37].

The importance of the mutation-bearing residues is reflected also in the pattern of their substitution during evolution of the ErbB family. Leu837 is conserved as a hydrophobic residue, mostly leucine. However, similarly to the L837Q mutant found in human tumors, two oncogenic viral variants of the EGFR also display replacement by glutamine in this position, further pointing to a correlation between mutations in this residue and malignancy. Its neighbor, Leu834, is totally conserved in all catalytically active ErbBs, indicative of its important role. However, this position is substituted to valine or isoleucine in the kinase-dead ErbB3 (Val855 in human ErbB3; Fig. 4C). Similarly, the positions corresponding to Ile735 and Met742, which display other activating mutations mentioned above, are unique to ErbB3. Specifically, Met742 is conserved as methionine in all ErbBs, except for ErbB3 in some species that contain isoleucine or valine (Ile763 in human ErbB3; Fig. 4C). In addition, whereas the catalytically active ErbBs display large hydrophobic residues (such as phenylalanine, methionine, leucine, and isoleucine) in the position corresponding to Ile735, this position in the kinase-dead ErbB3 is occupied by valine, a smaller residue (Val756 in human ErbB3; Fig. 4C). It is interesting to note that this position is also occupied by valine in two oncogenic variants of EGFR found in spiketail (Xiphophorus xiphidium) and southern platyfish (Xiphophorus maculates), relating this substitution to the unstable inactive state. Overall, ErbB3 displays fewer hydrophobic contacts between the  $\alpha$ Chelix and the activation loop than the other ErbBs. For example, the contacts between Ile735 and Leu837 as well as between Met742 and Leu834 within the EGFR (Fig. 4B) are missing in ErbB3 (Fig. 4C). Together, these findings lead us to suggest that the inactive conformation of the kinase domain of ErbB3 is less stable than in the other ErbBs isoforms, and that it might even assume a constantly active conformation. Apparently, there was no evolutionary constraint to stabilize the inactive state of ErbB3, as opposed to other ErbBs. This bears a crucial consequence on the regulation mechanism of the ErbBs, which is apparently far more promiscuous in ErbB3.

#### 5.1.2. Mutations in the phosphate-binding (P)-loop

G695S (G719S in the pre-mature EGFR numbering) is another mutation that displays heightened basal activity and is found in cancer patients [37,90,96,100]. Gly695 is the first glycine in the G-X-G-X-X-G motif in the P-loop of the kinase domain, which determines the position of ATP during catalysis (Fig. 5) and accordingly is conserved in the ErbBs as well as in other tyrosine kinases. Nevertheless, the G695S mutation does not impair the maximal response to EGF and thus allows the proper positioning of the catalytic elements to be preserved [37]. The P-loop does not display noticeable conformational changes between the active and inactive conformations of the kinase domain. Thus, in contrast to residues in the activation loop and the aC-helix, Gly695 does not appear to participate in stabilizing the inactive conformation. The mutation might exert an effect by directly influencing the phosphate transfer reaction via lowering of the dissociation rate of ATP (as well as that of ATP-analog inhibitors). Accordingly, G695S is more sensitive than the wt EGFR to ATP-analog EGFR kinase inhibitors [96,100]. However, because the inhibitors display higher affinity for the active conformation, G695S should be less sensitive to the inhibitors than the L834R and L837Q mutations that induce a ligand-independent active form. Overall, we expect the G695S mutation to increase the catalytic efficiency, but not to interfere with the dynamic equilibrium in the model of Fig. 1. Experimental results indeed showed that G695S does not alter the binding affinity for the ligand [37].



Fig. 6. Mutation at the interface of the intracellular active dimer. The asymmetric active dimer of the kinase domain (colored yellow and purple) of the EGFR (residues 685–967; PDB entry — 1m17 [32]) is depicted in a ribbon representation. Glu685, located on the activated monomer (in light purple), is depicted as a red sphere. This residue is substituted in some cancer cells.

5.1.3. Mutations at the interface of the active asymmetric dimer

Substitutions of alanine or glycine for Glu685 (709 in the pre-mature EGFR numbering) have been reported in lung cancers [110,111]. Like the other missense mutations, E685G also showed increased basal auto-phosphorylation and a heightened sensitivity to EGFR kinase inhibitors such as gefitinib [90]. Interestingly, Glu685 is located on the N-lobe of the EGFR as part of the interface on the activated monomer within the asymmetric dimer (purple kinase in Fig. 6). According to the model, this interface is important for the activation of the catalytically active ErbBs, but is irrelevant for the kinase-dead ErbB3 [34], as discussed in Section 4.3.3. Accordingly, Glu685 is conserved within the catalytically active ErbBs, but not in some species of ErbB3. We suggest that the E685G mutation might further stabilize the formation of the active dimer by shifting the dynamic equilibrium of EGFR towards the active forms (e.g., form 'c' in Fig. 1A), leading to an increase in basal activity. Another possibility is that within heterodimers comprising EGFR, mutations at the interface might change the native orientation of the monomers by altering the roles of the activating and the activated monomers (see Section 4). The resulting modification in signal transduction could also lead to oncogenic transformation (see Section 5.1.4 for an example).

#### 5.1.4. Mutations in the $\alpha$ C-helix and its surrounding regions

5.1.4.1. EGFR exon 19 deletions in the N-terminus of the  $\alpha$ C-helix and its preceding loop. In addition to the missense mutations discussed above, other oncogenic variations in the EGFR correspond to different deletions within residues 722–735 in exon19. As with the former mutations, when tested *in vitro* such deletions show increased basal activity compared to wt EGFR [37,90,96,99], as well as higher sensitivity to EGFR kinase inhibitors [90,96,97,99]. The region displaying the deletions constitutes the loop preceding the  $\alpha$ C-helix and its N-terminus, which participate in interactions with the activation loop in the inactive conformation (Fig. 7A). The crystal structure of the inactive conformation of the kinase domain [34] indeed displays pronounced rigidity in this region, in contrast to the marked flexibility observed in the active conformation [32,34]. Thus, such deletions are predicted to lead to destabilization of the inactive conformation of the kinase domain and to an increase in basal activity, similarly to the L834R and L837Q mutations discussed in Section 5.1.1.

We note that although the deletions destabilize inhibitory interactions, the maximal catalytic activity was diminished [37], possibly because the  $\alpha$ C-helix is involved in mediating the active intracellular dimer (Fig. 7C). Accordingly, the  $\Delta$ L723-P729insS mutant (a 723–729 deletion together with insertion of a serine residue) was shown to abolish the high-affinity binding mode and reduce the low-affinity binding mode by twofold [37] (see Section 2.5 for discussion of ligand-binding affinity). This corresponds to destabilization of the active intracellular dimer constituting the high-affinity forms (forms 'c-d' in Fig. 1A), and results in a general shift toward lower affinity states.

# 5.1.4.2. Insertions of exon20 in the loop following the $\alpha$ C-helix. *Exon20* insertions have been detected both in the EGFR and in ErbB2, and were shown to be activating alterations. They are discussed in the following sections.

5.1.4.3. Exon20 insertions within the EGFR destabilize the inactive dimer. In contrast to the EGFR alterations discussed above, the exon20 insertion mutations have not been reported in the group of clinical responders to EGFR kinase inhibitors. Nevertheless, they were detected in few recent large-scale studies [90,107,110,111] and reportedly account for 3.7-5% of the mutations in lung cancers [101,109]. The insertions were detected in the C-terminus of the  $\alpha$ C-helix and the region following it, within residues 744–749. One such insertion, D746insNPG, i.e., insertion of residues Asn-Pro-Gly following Asp746 (Asp770 in pre-mature EGFR numbering), was tested *in vitro* and showed heightened basal activity [96]. In contrast to the previously discussed mutations and in accordance with clinical findings, this insertion mutant was remarkably insensitive to the EGFR kinase inhibitors gefitinib and erlotinib; it



Fig. 7. Deletions in *exon19* in the EGFR. (A–B) The kinase domain of the EGFR (residues 685–957), in the inactive (A) (PDB entry — 1gs7 [34]) and active (B) (PDB entry — 2gs6 [34]) conformations, is depicted in a yellow ribbon representation. Regulatory elements are depicted by different colors: the activation loop (residues 831–852) in green, the C-terminus of the  $\alpha$ C-helix (residues 736–745) in brown, the phosphate-binding loop (residues 695–700) in cyan, and the catalytic loop (residues 812–818) in purple. The region showing deletions in cancer cells (residues comprising the activation loop are also displayed in a balls-and-sticks representation. Interactions between the region showing deletions in cancer cells (red) and the activation loop (green) in the inactive state (A) are noticeable. (C) The asymmetric dimer of the kinase domains (the monomers are colored yellow and light purple) of the EGFR (residues 685–957; PDB entry — 1m17 [32]) is depicted in a ribbon representation. The region showing deletion in cancer cells (residues 722–735) is colored red in the activated (purple) monomer.

was more sensitive, however, to treatment with the irreversible inhibitor CL-387,785 [96], which is covalently bound to EGFR in residue C773 [112].

The region following the  $\alpha$ C-helix forms an exposed loop on the kinase domain. This loop displays similar orientations in the active and inactive states and is not predicted to play a role in stabilizing the monomeric inactive state. Nevertheless, it is located close to the interface of the symmetric, putatively inactive, crystallographic dimer of the kinase domain (see Section 2.2.1), facing the equivalent loop from the second monomer (Fig. 8). Prediction of the structure of the D746insNPG alteration showed clashes between insertions within the symmetric dimer (Fig. 8), possibly leading to destabilization of the inactive form (form 'b' in Fig. 1), and prompting activation by increasing the fraction of receptors in the active form. The mechanism leading to insensitivity to the inhibitors is not yet clear.

5.1.4.4. Exon20 insertions in ErbB2 alter orientation within EGFR-ErbB2 heterodimers. The most prevalent ErbB2 alterations found to date in cancer cells are insertions in exon20. These insertions were found within residues 774–783 of ErbB2, corresponding to residues 742–751 of the EGFR [91,93,102–104,107,113]. The most common of these alterations, G776insYVMA, was recently shown to exhibit a more potent auto-catalytic activity than wt ErbB2 [88]. Interestingly, this insertion is located within the binding site of Hsp90 [80].

In Section 4.3 we discussed functional asymmetry within EGFR–ErbB2 heterodimers, wherein ErbB2 is preferentially the activating monomer and makes contact with the EGFR via its C-lobe (the yellow kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1). The EGFR in turn takes on the role of activated monomer and phosphorylates ErbB2, leading to specific signal transduction. This orientation may be imposed by the binding of Hsp90 to the dimerization interface on the N-lobe of ErbB2 [80] (see Section 4.3.2). According to the model, alterations in the Hsp90 binding loop, as in the G776insYVMA mutant, would prevent the binding of Hsp90 and enable ErbB2 to interact with the EGFR via its N-lobe. As a result, ErbB2 preferentially assumes the role of the activated monomer (the purple kinase in form 'e' in Fig. 1). Correspondingly, experiments have shown that in contrast to wt ErbB2, the G776insYVMA mutant phosphorylates its hetero-

dimeric partner EGFR in a manner that does not require a catalytically active EGFR. Accordingly, in contrast to the situation in wt dimers, this activation was blocked by direct ErbB2 inhibitors such as trastuzumab, lapatinib, and CI-1033, but not by the EGFR-specific kinase inhibitors erlotinib or gefitinib [88]. In addition, binding of Hsp90 restrains cellular signaling by ErbB2 [80], indicating that the kinase activity of the insertion mutant is more potent than that of the wt [88].

We note that an additional contribution prompting formation of the active dimer by the mutation might be related to destabilization of the inactive dimer, as in the case of *exon20* insertions within the EGFR. Interestingly, heterodimers constituting the EGFR and the G776insYVMA ErbB2 mutant do not respond to ligand binding, and do not require contact formation between their extracellular domains [88]. A possible explanation is that the association of ErbB2 via its N-lobe to the EGFR's C-lobe is energetically stable and that, together with a probable loss of control by the inactive dimer, it could preferentially occur via random contacts. Under normal conditions, this interaction is prevented mainly by binding of Hsp90 to the dimerization interface and the formation of an inactive dimer.

#### 5.1.4.5. The S744I mutation at the C-terminus of the $\alpha$ C-helix.

Another residue that undergoes substitution in tumor cells is Ser744, located at the C-terminal end of the  $\alpha$ C-helix. Compared to the wt, the S744I mutant displays heightened basal kinase activity and greater sensitivity to EGFR kinase inhibitors such as gefitinib [90]. In contrast to mutations in the activation loop and the  $\alpha$ C-helix, which are buried inside the hydrophobic core and thereby stabilize the inactive conformation, Ser744 is relatively exposed to the solvent. The effect, therefore, is presumably not related to destabilization of the inherent inactive conformation.

Ser744 is conserved in ErbBs except for ErbB2, in which a glycine residue occupies this position (Gly776 in human ErbB2). This region in ErbB2 indeed displays the unique ability, found in the ErbBs, to bind Hsp90 [80]. Interestingly, an equivalent G776S mutation in ErbB2 was found in gastric tumors [93]. The equivalent locations of the EGFR-S774G and ErbB2-G776S mutations might point to a common molecular effect. Because this position is close to the interfaces of the active



Fig. 8. Insertions in exon20 in the EGFR. The intracellular symmetric inactive dimer (PDB entry — 1m17 [32]) is depicted in a ribbon representation. The two kinase domains are colored yellow and light purple and their following C-terminal fragments are depicted as orange and purple tubes, respectively. (A) wt EGFR; Asp746 is depicted in space-filled atoms. (B) Model of the EGFR D746insNPG mutant. Residues comprising this insertion are depicted as space-filled atoms. Clashes within the inactive dimer, resulting from the insertion, are noticeable.

dimer, the mutation might contribute to alteration of the native orientation within active asymmetric heterodimers, as in the ErbB2 *exon20* insertions discussed above.

## 5.1.5. Mutations found in tumor cells that have not been yet analyzed in vitro

A large set of mutations has been found to exist in tumor cells. Those occurring frequently have been analyzed *in vitro* for their effects on kinase activity, as discussed in Sections 5.1.1-5.1.4. The oncogenic nature of other mutations of the EGFR, ErbB2, and ErbB4 has not yet been established. Based on the structural locations of these residues and their evolutionary conservation patterns within the ErbB family, we offer (Table 2S) a prediction as to the nature of their substitutions, i.e., whether it is likely to be damaging or neutral. Some examples are provided below.

5.1.5.1. The R752C mutation in the EGFR is predicted to be damaging. R752C (residue 776 in the pre-mature EGFR numbering) was found as a second mutation to L834R in patients with lung tumors sensitive to the EGFR kinase inhibitor erlotinib [98]. Arg752 is conserved in ErbBs and is located at the interface of the symmetric, putatively inactive crystallographic dimer (Fig. 3). This residue, which is connected by a salt bridge to Asp990 located on the C-terminal domain, plays a role in the polar network stabilizing the dimer (see Section 2.2.1). Thus, this mutation is predicted to lead to destabilization of the inactive dimeric state. Interestingly, a mutation in the corresponding residue of ErbB4 (R782Q) [108] was also reported in cancer cells, supporting our assumption that these mutations are indeed oncogenic.

5.1.5.2. The L723F mutation in the EGFR is predicted to be damaging. The L723F mutation (residue 747 in the premature EGFR numbering) was observed in lung cancers [114]. Residue Leu723 is located in the loop preceding the  $\alpha$ C-helix, at the beginning of the exon19 deletions found in cancer patients, and is in contact with the activation loop in the inactive state, i.e., with residues Leu834, Leu837, and Leu838 (Fig. 9). Leu723 is conserved in all the ErbBs except the kinase-dead ErbB3, in which this position is occupied by isoleucine, and which probably exhibits a constant active conformation of the kinase domain (see Section 5.1.1). In view of its conservation pattern and structural location, we predict that the Leu723 mutation might participate in destabilizing the inactive state of the kinase domain, similarly to the exon19 deletions and other missense mutations in the  $\alpha$ C-helix and activation loop. Interestingly, the corresponding residue in ErbB2 (Leu755) also displays substitutions in cancer cells [93,104,107], suggesting that these mutations are indeed oncogenic.

5.1.5.3. The N857S mutation in ErbB2 is predicted to be neutral. The ErbB2 N857S mutant (corresponding to Gln825 in EGFR) was reported in an ovarian tumor [93]. A model of ErbB2 predicted that Asn857 is located in a loop on the back side of the catalytic site and is exposed to the solvent. This position shows evolutionary variation in ErbBs. Based on



Fig. 9. A predicted oncogenic mutation. The kinase domain of the EGFR (residues 685–957) in the inactive conformation (PDB entry — 1gs7 [34]) is depicted in a yellow ribbon representation. Regulatory elements are depicted by different colors: the activation loop (residues 831-852) in green, the  $\alpha$ C-helix (residues 729–745) in brown, and the catalytic loop (residues 812-818) in purple. The disordered region in the crystal structures is depicted by a dashed line. Leu723, which was found to be mutated in cancer cells, is depicted in space-filled atoms. In this inactive conformation Leu723 interacts with Leu834, Leu837, and Leu838 on the activation loop (depicted in green space-filled atoms). We predict that the L723F substitution leads to destabilization of the inactive conformation.

analyses of evolutionary conservation and structural location, we predict that substitution of the mutation N857S is neutral in its effect.

#### 6. Methods

#### 6.1. Evolutionary conservation analysis of the ErbB family

Sequences of the kinase domain of ErbB isoforms from various species were collected from the UNIPROT database [115] and the NR database from NCBI, using PSI-BLAST [116]. The resulting 306 sequences were aligned using MUSCLE [117]. Fragmented or redundant sequences were removed from the alignment. In addition, sequence variants and mutants were discarded, along with proteins sequenced by a whole-genome shotgun project, because they are viewed as preliminary data. The resulting multiple sequence alignment (MSA) contained 48 sequences of ErbBs from vertebrates and invertebrates. The invertebrate sequences were removed, and an MSA of 36 ErbBs from vertebrates (and viruses) was used to calculated evolutionary conservation scores using a Bayesian method [118] as implemented in the ConSurf web-server (http://consurf.tau.ac.il/) [119].

#### 6.2. Structure prediction and analyses

The structures of the kinase domains of ErbB2, ErbB3, and mutants found in cancer cells were modeled on the basis of the structure of the kinase domain of the EGFR (PDB entry — 1m17 [32]) using the NEST program [120] with default parameters. The solvent-accessible area was calculated using the SURFV program with a probe sphere of radius 1.4 Å and default parameters [121].

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2007.08.001.

#### References

- R. Stein, J. Staros, Insights into the evolution of the ErbB receptor family and their ligands from sequence analysis, BMC Evol. Biol. 6 (2006) 79.
- [2] Y. Yarden, M.X. Sliwkowski, Untangling the ErbB signalling network, Nat. Rev., Mol. Cell Biol. 2 (2001) 127–137.
- [3] A. Citri, Y. Yarden, EGF-ErbB signalling: towards the systems level, Nat. Rev., Mol. Cell Biol. 7 (2006) 505–516.
- [4] B. Linggi, G. Carpenter, ErbB receptors: new insights on mechanisms and biology, Trends Cell Biol. 16 (2006) 649–656.
- [5] J. Schlessinger, Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases, Cell 103 (2000) 211–225.
- [6] J. Schlessinger, M.A. Lemmon, Nuclear signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases: the first robin of spring, Cell 127 (2006) 45–48.
- [7] C.M. Warren, R. Landgraf, Signaling through ErbB receptors: multiple layers of diversity and control, Cell. Signal. 18 (2006) 923–933.
- [8] A. Citri, K.B. Skaria, Y. Yarden, The deaf and the dumb: the biology of ErbB-2 and ErbB-3, Exp. Cell Res. 284 (2003) 54–65.
- [9] E. Tzahar, H. Waterman, X. Chen, G. Levkowitz, D. Karunagaran, S. Lavi, B.J. Ratzkin, Y. Yarden, A hierarchical network of interreceptor interactions determines signal transduction by Neu differentiation factor/neuregulin and epidermal growth factor, Mol. Cell. Biol. 16 (1996) 5276–5287.
- [10] M. Huse, J. Kuriyan, The conformational plasticity of protein kinases, Cell 109 (2002) 275–282.
- [11] S.J. Fleishman, J. Schlessinger, N. Ben-Tal, A putative molecularactivation switch in the transmembrane domain of ErbB2, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (2002) 15937–15940.
- [12] M. Landau, S.J. Fleishman, N. Ben-Tal, A putative mechanism for downregulation of the catalytic activity of the EGF receptor via direct contact between its kinase and C-terminal domains, Structure 12 (2004) 2265–2275.
- [13] C.W. Ward, M.C. Lawrence, V.A. Streltsov, T.E. Adams, N.M. McKern, The insulin and EGF receptor structures: new insights into ligand-induced receptor activation, Trends Biochem. Sci. 32 (2007) 129–137.
- [14] S.R. Hubbard, EGF receptor activation: push comes to shove, Cell 125 (2006) 1029–1031.
- [15] D.J. Leahy, Structure and function of the epidermal growth factor (EGF/ ErbB) family of receptors, Adv. Protein Chem. 68 (2004) 1–27.
- [16] P. Pellicena, J. Kuriyan, Protein–protein interactions in the allosteric regulation of protein kinases, Curr. Opin. Struck. Biol. 16 (2006) 702–709.
- [17] K. Kani, C.M. Warren, C.S. Kaddis, J.A. Loo, R. Landgraf, Oligomers of ErbB3 have two distinct interfaces that differ in their sensitivity to disruption by heregulin, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 8238–8247.
- [18] P. Nagy, G. Vereb, Z. Sebestyen, G. Horvath, S.J. Lockett, S. Damjanovich, J.W. Park, T.M. Jovin, J. Szollosi, Lipid rafts and the local density of ErbB proteins influence the biological role of homo- and heteroassociations of ErbB2, J. Cell Sci. 115 (2002) 4251–4262.
- [19] S. Saffarian, Y. Li, E.L. Elson, L.J. Pike, Oligomerization of the EGF receptor investigated by live cell fluorescence intensity distribution analysis, Biophys. J. (in press).
- [20] P. Liu, T. Sudhaharan, R.M. Koh, L.C. Hwang, S. Ahmed, I.N. Maruyama, T. Wohland, Investigation of the dimerization of proteins from the epidermal growth factor receptor family by single wavelength fluorescence cross-correlation spectroscopy, Biophys. J. 93 (2007) 684–698.
- [21] A.H.A. Clayton, F. Walker, S.G. Orchard, C. Henderson, D. Fuchs, J. Rothacker, E.C. Nice, A.W. Burgess, Ligand-induced dimer–tetramer transition during the activation of the cell surface epidermal growth factor receptor-A multidimensional microscopy analysis, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 30392–30399.
- [22] X. Yu, K.D. Sharma, T. Takahashi, R. Iwamoto, E. Mekada, Ligandindependent dimer formation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)

is a step separable from ligand-induced EGFR signaling, Mol. Biol. Cell 13 (2002) 2547–2557.

- [23] A. Chantry, The kinase domain and membrane localization determine intracellular interactions between epidermal growth factor receptors, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 3068–3073.
- [24] M. Martin-Fernandez, D.T. Clarke, M.J. Tobin, S.V. Jones, G.R. Jones, Preformed oligomeric epidermal growth factor receptors undergo an ectodomain structure change during signaling, Biophys. J. 82 (2002) 2415–2427.
- [25] J.M. Mendrola, M.B. Berger, M.C. King, M.A. Lemmon, The single transmembrane domains of ErbB receptors self-associate in cell membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 4704–4712.
- [26] T.W. Gadella Jr., T.M. Jovin, Oligomerization of epidermal growth factor receptors on A431 cells studied by time-resolved fluorescence imaging microscopy. A stereochemical model for tyrosine kinase receptor activation, J. Cell Biol. 129 (1995) 1543–1558.
- [27] T. Moriki, H. Maruyama, I.N. Maruyama, Activation of preformed EGF receptor dimers by ligand-induced rotation of the transmembrane domain, J. Mol. Biol. 311 (2001) 1011–1026.
- [28] D.L. Cadena, C.L. Chan, G.N. Gill, The intracellular tyrosine kinase domain of the epidermal growth factor receptor undergoes a conformational change upon autophosphorylation, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 260–265.
- [29] Y. Teramura, J. Ichinose, H. Takagi, K. Nishida, T. Yanagida, Y. Sako, Single-molecule analysis of epidermal growth factor binding on the surface of living cells, EMBO J. 25 (2006) 4215–4222.
- [30] A.M. Stanley, K.G. Fleming, The transmembrane domains of ErbB receptors do not dimerize strongly in micelles, J. Mol. Biol. 347 (2005) 759–772.
- [31] A.P. Kornev, N.M. Haste, S.S. Taylor, L.F. Ten Eyck, Surface comparison of active and inactive protein kinases identifies a conserved activation mechanism, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 17783–17788.
- [32] J. Stamos, M.X. Sliwkowski, C. Eigenbrot, Structure of the epidermal growth factor receptor kinase domain alone and in complex with a 4anilinoquinazoline inhibitor, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 46265–46272.
- [33] N. Gotoh, A. Tojo, M. Hino, Y. Yazaki, M. Shibuya, A highly conserved tyrosine residue at codon 845 within the kinase domain is not required for the transforming activity of human epidermal growth factor receptor, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 186 (1992) 768–774.
- [34] X. Zhang, J. Gureasko, K. Shen, P.A. Cole, J. Kuriyan, An allosteric mechanism for activation of the kinase domain of epidermal growth factor receptor, Cell 125 (2006) 1137–1149.
- [35] E.R. Wood, A.T. Truesdale, O.B. McDonald, D. Yuan, A. Hassell, S.H. Dickerson, B. Ellis, C. Pennisi, E. Horne, K. Lackey, K.J. Alligood, D.W. Rusnak, T.M. Gilmer, L. Shewchuk, A unique structure for epidermal growth factor receptor bound to GW572016 (Lapatinib): relationships among protein conformation, inhibitor off-rate, and receptor activity in tumor cells, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 6652–6659.
- [36] S. McLaughlin, S.O. Smith, M.J. Hayman, D. Murray, An electrostatic engine model for autoinhibition and activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR/ErbB) family, J. Gen. Physiol. 126 (2005) 41–53.
- [37] S.H. Choi, J.M. Mendrola, M.A. Lemmon, EGF-independent activation of cell-surface EGF receptors harboring mutations found in gefitinibsensitive lung cancer, Oncogene 26 (2007) 1567–1576.
- [38] C.M. Chang, H.K. Shu, L. Ravi, R.J. Pelley, H. Shu, H.J. Kung, A minor tyrosine phosphorylation site located within the CAIN domain plays a critical role in regulating tissue-specific transformation by ErbB kinase, J. Virol. 69 (1995) 1172–1180.
- [39] S. Aifa, J. Aydin, G. Nordvall, I. Lundstrom, S.P.S. Svensson, O. Hermanson, A basic peptide within the juxtamembrane region is required for EGF receptor dimerization, Exp. Cell Res. 302 (2005) 108–114.
- [40] S. Massoglia, A. Gray, T.J. Dull, S. Munemitsu, H.J. Kun, J. Schlessinger, A. Ullrich, Epidermal growth factor receptor cytoplasmic domain mutations trigger ligand-independent transformation, Mol. Cell. Biol. 10 (1990) 3048–3055.
- [41] H. Riedel, J. Schlessinger, A. Ullrich, A chimeric, ligand-binding v-ErbB/ EGF receptor retains transforming potential, Science 236 (1987) 197–200.

- [42] J.L. Boerner, A. Danielsen, N.J. Maihle, Ligand-independent oncogenic signaling by the epidermal growth factor receptor: v-ErbB as a paradigm, Exp. Cell Res. 284 (2003) 111–121.
- [43] D.C. Gamett, S.E. Tracy, H.L. Robinson, Differences in sequences encoding the carboxyl-terminal domain of the epidermal growth factor receptor correlate with differences in the disease potential of viral *ErbB* genes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 83 (1986) 6053–6057.
- [44] R.J. Pelley, N.J. Maihle, C. Boerkoel, H.K. Shu, T.H. Carter, C. Moscovici, H.J. Kung, Disease tropism of c-ErbB: effects of carboxylterminal tyrosine and internal mutations on tissue-specific transformation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 86 (1989) 7164–7168.
- [45] M.A. Raines, N.J. Maihle, C. Moscovici, M.G. Moscovici, H.J. Kung, Molecular characterization of three ErbB transducing viruses generated during avian leukosis virus-induced erythroleukemia: extensive internal deletion near the kinase domain activates the fibrosarcomaand hemangioma-inducing potentials of ErbB, J. Virol. 62 (1988) 2444–2452.
- [46] H.L. Robinson, S.E. Tracy, N. Nair, C. Taglienti-Sian, D.C. Gamett, Characterization of an angiosarcoma-inducing mutation in the ErbB oncogene, Oncogene 7 (1992) 2025–2030.
- [47] L.C. Groenen, F. Walker, A.W. Burgess, H.R. Treutlein, A model for the activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor kinase involvement of an asymmetric dimer? Biochemistry 36 (1997) 3826–3836.
- [48] P.D. Jeffrey, A.A. Russo, K. Polyak, E. Gibbs, J. Hurwitz, J. Massague, N.P. Pavletich, Mechanism of CDK activation revealed by the structure of a cyclinA-CDK2 complex, Nature 376 (1995) 313–320.
- [49] T. Sato, P. Pallavi, U. Golebiewska, S. McLaughlin, S.O. Smith, Structure of the membrane reconstituted transmembrane-juxtamembrane peptide EGFR(622–660) and its interaction with Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin, Biochemistry 45 (2006) 12704–12714.
- [50] C.P. Bagowski, M. Stein-Gerlach, A. Choidas, A. Ullrich, Cell-type specific phosphorylation of threonines T654 and T669 by PKD defines the signal capacity of the EGF receptor, EMBO J. 18 (1999) 5567–5576.
- [51] R.J. Davis, M.P. Czech, Platelet-derived growth factor mimics phorbol diester action on epidermal growth factor receptor phosphorylation at threonine-654, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 82 (1985) 4080–4084.
- [52] T. Hunter, N. Ling, J.A. Cooper, Protein kinase C phosphorylation of the EGF receptor at a threonine residue close to the cytoplasmic face of the plasma membrane, Nature 311 (1984) 480–483.
- [53] P. Sengupta, M.J. Ruano, F. Tebar, U. Golebiewska, I. Zaitseva, C. Enrich, S. McLaughlin, A. Villalobo, Membrane-permeable calmodulin inhibitors (e.g. W-7/W-13) bind to membranes, changing the electrostatic surface potential: dual effect of W-13 on epidermal growth factor receptor activation, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 8474–8486 (Electronic publication 2007 Jan 16).
- [54] S. Aifa, F. Frikha, N. Miled, K. Johansen, I. Lundstrom, S.P.S. Svensson, Phosphorylation of Thr654 but not Thr669 within the juxtamembrane domain of the EGF receptor inhibits calmodulin binding, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 347 (2006) 381–387.
- [55] J. Martin-Nieto, A. Villalobo, The human epidermal growth factor receptor contains a juxtamembrane calmodulin-binding site, Biochemistry 37 (1998) 227–236.
- [56] E. Li, K. Hristova, Role of receptor tyrosine kinase transmembrane domains in cell signaling and human pathologies, Biochemistry 45 (2006) 6241–6251.
- [57] A. Enosh, S.J. Fleishman, N. Ben-Tal, D. Halperin, Prediction and simulation of motion in pairs of transmembrane alpha-helices, Bioinformatics 23 (2007) e212–e218.
- [58] G. Jiang, T. Hunter, Receptor signaling: when dimerization is not enough, Curr. Biol. 9 (1999) R568–R571.
- [59] C.I. Bargmann, M.C. Hung, R.A. Weinberg, Multiple independent activations of the neu oncogene by a point mutation altering the transmembrane domain of p185, Cell 45 (1986) 649–657.
- [60] O. Segatto, C.R. King, J.H. Pierce, P.P. Di Fiore, S.A. Aaronson, Different structural alterations upregulate *in vitro* tyrosine kinase activity and transforming potency of the *ErbB-2* gene, Mol. Cell. Biol. 8 (1988) 5570–5574.
- [61] B. Frank, K. Hemminki, M. Wirtenberger, J.L. Bermejo, P. Bugert, R.

Klaes, R.K. Schmutzler, B. Wappenschmidt, C.R. Bartram, B. Burwinkel, The rare ErbB2 variant Ile654Val is associated with an increased familial breast cancer risk, Carcinogenesis 26 (2005) 643–647.

- [62] B. Frank, K. Hemminki, B. Burwinkel, A bias in genotyping the ErbB2 (HER2) Ile655Val variant, Carcinogenesis 26 (2005) 1649.
- [63] C.I. Bargmann, R.A. Weinberg, Increased tyrosine kinase activity associated with the protein encoded by the activated neu oncogene, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 85 (1988) 5394–5398.
- [64] S. Li, K.R. Schmitz, P.D. Jeffrey, J.J. Wiltzius, P. Kussie, K.M. Ferguson, Structural basis for inhibition of the epidermal growth factor receptor by cetuximab, Cancer Cells 7 (2005) 301–311.
- [65] H.S. Cho, D.J. Leahy, Structure of the extracellular region of HER3 reveals an interdomain tether, Science 297 (2002) 1330–1333.
- [66] S. Bouyain, P.A. Longo, S. Li, K.M. Ferguson, D.J. Leahy, The extracellular region of ErbB4 adopts a tethered conformation in the absence of ligand, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102 (2005) 15024–15029.
- [67] T.P. Garrett, N.M. McKern, M. Lou, T.C. Elleman, T.E. Adams, G.O. Lovrecz, H.J. Zhu, F. Walker, M.J. Frenkel, P.A. Hoyne, R.N. Jorissen, E.C. Nice, A.W. Burgess, C.W. Ward, Crystal structure of a truncated epidermal growth factor receptor extracellular domain bound to transforming growth factor alpha, Cell 110 (2002) 763–773.
- [68] H. Ogiso, R. Ishitani, O. Nureki, S. Fukai, M. Yamanaka, J.H. Kim, K. Saito, A. Sakamoto, M. Inoue, M. Shirouzu, S. Yokoyama, Crystal structure of the complex of human epidermal growth factor and receptor extracellular domains, Cell 110 (2002) 775–787.
- [69] T.P. Garrett, N.M. McKern, M. Lou, T.C. Elleman, T.E. Adams, G.O. Lovrecz, M. Kofler, R.N. Jorissen, E.C. Nice, A.W. Burgess, C.W. Ward, The crystal structure of a truncated ErbB2 ectodomain reveals an active conformation, poised to interact with other ErbB receptors, Mol. Cell 11 (2003) 495–505.
- [70] H.S. Cho, K. Mason, K.X. Ramyar, A.M. Stanley, S.B. Gabelli, D.W. Denney Jr., D.J. Leahy, Structure of the extracellular region of HER2 alone and in complex with the Herceptin Fab, Nature 421 (2003) 756–760.
- [71] A.W. Burgess, H.S. Cho, C. Eigenbrot, K.M. Ferguson, T.P. Garrett, D.J. Leahy, M.A. Lemmon, M.X. Sliwkowski, C.W. Ward, S. Yokoyama, An open-and-shut case? Recent insights into the activation of EGF/ErbB receptors, Mol. Cell 12 (2003) 541–552.
- [72] K.M. Ferguson, M.B. Berger, J.M. Mendrola, H.S. Cho, D.J. Leahy, M.A. Lemmon, EGF activates its receptor by removing interactions that autoinhibit ectodomain dimerization, Mol. Cell 11 (2003) 507–517.
- [73] D. Mattoon, P. Klein, M.A. Lemmon, I. Lax, J. Schlessinger, The tethered configuration of the EGF receptor extracellular domain exerts only a limited control of receptor function, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 923–928.
- [74] F. Ozcan, P. Klein, M.A. Lemmon, I. Lax, J. Schlessinger, On the nature of low- and high-affinity EGF receptors on living cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 5735–5740.
- [75] P. Klein, D. Mattoon, M.A. Lemmon, J. Schlessinger, A structure-based model for ligand binding and dimerization of EGF receptors, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 929–934.
- [76] F. Walker, A.W. Burgess, Reconstitution of the high affinity epidermal growth factor receptor on cell-free membranes after transmodulation by platelet-derived growth factor, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 2746–2752.
- [77] M.R. Holbrook, L.L. Slakey, D.J. Gross, Thermodynamic mixing of molecular states of the epidermal growth factor receptor modulates macroscopic ligand binding affinity, Biochem. J. 352 (2000) 99–108.
- [78] M.A.G. Van der Heyden, M. Nievers, A.J. Verkleij, J. Boonstra, P.M.P. Van Bergen en Henegouwen, Identification of an intracellular domain of the EGF receptor required for high-affinity binding of EGF, FEBS Lett. 410 (1997) 265–268.
- [79] E. Livneh, R. Prywes, O. Kashles, N. Reiss, I. Sasson, Y. Mory, A. Ullrich, J. Schlessinger, Reconstitution of human epidermal growth factor receptors and its deletion mutants in cultured hamster cells, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 12490–12497.
- [80] A. Citri, J. Gan, Y. Mosesson, G. Vereb, J. Szollosi, Y. Yarden, Hsp90 restrains ErbB-2/HER2 signalling by limiting heterodimer formation, EMBO rep. 5 (2004) 1165–1170.
- [81] M.B. Berger, J.M. Mendrola, M.A. Lemmon, ErbB3/HER3 does not

homodimerize upon neuregulin binding at the cell surface, FEBS Lett. 569 (2004) 332–336.

- [82] B.B. Zhou, M. Peyton, B. He, C. Liu, L. Girard, E. Caudler, Y. Lo, F. Baribaud, I. Mikami, N. Reguart, G. Yang, Y. Li, W. Yao, K. Vaddi, A.F. Gazdar, S.M. Friedman, D.M. Jablons, R.C. Newton, J.S. Fridman, J.D. Minna, P.A. Scherle, Targeting ADAM-mediated ligand cleavage to inhibit HER3 and EGFR pathways in non-small cell lung cancer, Cancer Cells 10 (2006) 39–50.
- [83] M.A. Olayioye, D. Graus-Porta, R.R. Beerli, J. Rohrer, B. Gay, N.E. Hynes, ErbB-1 and ErbB-2 acquire distinct signaling properties dependent upon their dimerization partner, Mol. Cell. Biol. 18 (1998) 5042–5051.
- [84] W. Xu, E. Mimnaugh, M.F. Rosser, C. Nicchitta, M. Marcu, Y. Yarden, L. Neckers, Sensitivity of mature Erbb2 to geldanamycin is conferred by its kinase domain and is mediated by the chaperone protein Hsp90, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 3702–3708.
- [85] A. Gillgrass, R.D. Cardiff, N. Sharan, S. Kannan, W.J. Muller, Epidermal growth factor receptor-dependent activation of Gab1 is involved in ErbB-2-mediated mammary tumor progression, Oncogene 22 (2003) 9151–9155.
- [86] M.P. DiGiovanna, D.F. Stern, S.M. Edgerton, S.G. Whalen, D. Moore II, A.D. Thor, Relationship of epidermal growth factor receptor expression to ErbB-2 signaling activity and prognosis in breast cancer patients, J. Clin. Oncol. 23 (2005) 1152–1160.
- [87] A.E.G. Lenferink, J.F. Simpson, L.K. Shawver, R.J. Coffey, J.T. Forbes, C.L. Arteaga, Blockade of the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase suppresses tumorigenesis in MMTV/Neu + MMTV/TGF-alpha bigenic mice, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 9609–9614.
- [88] S.E. Wang, A. Narasanna, M. Perez-Torres, B. Xiang, F.Y. Wu, S. Yang, G. Carpenter, A.F. Gazdar, S.K. Muthuswamy, C.L. Arteaga, HER2 kinase domain mutation results in constitutive phosphorylation and activation of HER2 and EGFR and resistance to EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors, Cancer Cells 10 (2006) 25–38.
- [89] P. Blume-Jensen, T. Hunter, Oncogenic kinase signalling, Nature 411 (2001) 355–365.
- [90] Y.-R. Chen, Y.-N. Fu, C.-H. Lin, S.-T. Yang, S.-F. Hu, Y.-T. Chen, S.-F. Tsai, S.-F. Huang, Distinctive activation patterns in constitutively active and gefitinib-sensitive EGFR mutants, Oncogene 25 (2005) 1205–1215.
- [91] C. Willmore-Payne, J.A. Holden, L.J. Layfield, Detection of EGFR- and HER2-activating mutations in squamous cell carcinoma involving the head and neck, Mod. Path. 19 (2006) 634–640.
- [92] N.E. Hynes, T. Schlange, Targeting ADAMS and ErbBs in lung cancer, Cancer Cells 10 (2006) 7–11.
- [93] P. Stephens, C. Hunter, G. Bignell, S. Edkins, H. Davies, J. Teague, C. Stevens, S. O'Meara, R. Smith, A. Parker, A. Barthorpe, M. Blow, L. Brackenbury, A. Butler, O. Clarke, J. Cole, E. Dicks, A. Dike, A. Drozd, K. Edwards, S. Forbes, R. Foster, K. Gray, C. Greenman, K. Halliday, K. Hills, V. Kosmidou, R. Lugg, A. Menzies, J. Perry, R. Petty, K. Raine, L. Ratford, R. Shepherd, A. Small, Y. Stephens, C. Tofts, J. Varian, S. West, S. Widaa, A. Yates, F. Brasseur, C.S. Cooper, A.M. Flanagan, M. Knowles, S.Y. Leung, D.N. Louis, L.H.J. Looijenga, B. Malkowicz, M.A. Pierotti, B. Teh, G. Chenevix-Trench, B.L. Weber, S.T. Yuen, G. Harris, P. Goldstraw, A.G. Nicholson, P.A. Futreal, R. Wooster, M.R. Stratton, Lung cancer: intragenic ErbB2 kinase mutations in tumours, Nature 431 (2004) 525–526.
- [94] H.K. Koeppen, B.D. Wright, A.D. Burt, P. Quirke, A.M. McNicol, N.O. Dybdal, M.X. Sliwkowski, K.J. Hillan, Overexpression of HER2/neu in solid tumours: an immunohistochemical survey, Histopathology 38 (2001) 96–104.
- [95] J.E. Dancey, Predictive factors for epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors—the bull's-eye hits the arrow, Cancer Cells 5 (2004) 411–415.
- [96] H. Greulich, T.-H. Chen, W. Feng, P.A. Janne, J.V. Alvarez, M. Zappaterra, S.E. Bulmer, D.A. Frank, W.C. Hahn, W.R. Sellers, M. Meyerson, Oncogenic transformation by inhibitor-sensitive and -resistant EGFR mutants, PLoS Med. 2 (2005) e313.
- [97] T.J. Lynch, D.W. Bell, R. Sordella, S. Gurubhagavatula, R.A. Okimoto, B.W. Brannigan, P.L. Harris, S.M. Haserlat, J.G. Supko, F.G. Haluska, D.N. Louis, D.C. Christiani, J. Settleman, D.A. Haber, Activating

mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib, N. Engl. J. Med. 350 (2004) 2129–2139.

- [98] W. Pao, V. Miller, M. Zakowski, J. Doherty, K. Politi, I. Sarkaria, B. Singh, R. Heelan, V. Rusch, L. Fulton, E. Mardis, D. Kupfer, R. Wilson, M. Kris, H. Varmus, EGF receptor gene mutations are common in lung cancers from "never smokers" and are associated with sensitivity of tumors to gefitinib and erlotinib, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 13306–13311.
- [99] R. Sordella, D.W. Bell, D.A. Haber, J. Settleman, Gefitinib-sensitizing EGFR mutations in lung cancer activate anti-apoptotic pathways, Science 305 (2004) 1163–1167.
- [100] J. Jiang, H. Greulich, P.A. Janne, W.R. Sellers, M. Meyerson, J.D. Griffin, Epidermal growth factor-independent transformation of Ba/F3 cells with cancer-derived epidermal growth factor receptor mutants induces gefitinib-sensitive cell cycle progression, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 8968–8974.
- [101] T. Mitsudomi, T. Kosaka, Y. Yatabe, Biological and clinical implications of EGFR mutations in lung cancer, Int. J. Clin. Oncol. 11 (2006) 190–198.
- [102] H. Shigematsu, T. Takahashi, M. Nomura, K. Majmudar, M. Suzuki, H. Lee, I.I. Wistuba, K.M. Fong, S. Toyooka, N. Shimizu, T. Fujisawa, J.D. Minna, A.F. Gazdar, Somatic mutations of the HER2 kinase domain in lung adenocarcinomas, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 1642–1646.
- [103] H. Sasaki, S. Shimizu, K. Endo, M. Takada, M. Kawahara, H. Tanaka, A. Matsumura, K. Iuchi, H. Haneda, E. Suzuki, Y. Kobayashi, M. Yano, Y. Fujii, EGFR and ErbB2 mutation status in Japanese lung cancer patients, Int. J. Cancer 118 (2006) 180–184.
- [104] F. Buttitta, F. Barassi, G. Fresu, L. Felicioni, A. Chella, D. Paolizzi, G. Lattanzio, S. Salvatore, P.P. Camplese, S. Rosini, T. Iarussi, F. Mucilli, R. Sacco, A. Mezzetti, A. Marchetti, Mutational analysis of the *HER2* gene in lung tumors from Caucasian patients: mutations are mainly present in adenocarcinomas with bronchioloalveolar features, Int. J. Cancer 119 (2006) 2586–2591.
- [105] J.W. Lee, Y.H. Soung, S.H. Seo, S.Y. Kim, C.H. Park, Y.P. Wang, K. Park, S.W. Nam, W.S. Park, S.H. Kim, J.Y. Lee, N.J. Yoo, S.H. Lee, Somatic mutations of Erbb2 kinase domain in gastric, colorectal, and breast carcinomas, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (2006) 57–61.
- [106] J.W. Lee, Y.H. Soung, S.Y. Kim, S.W. Nam, W.S. Park, Y.P. Wang, K.H. Jo, S.W. Moon, S.Y. Song, J.Y. Lee, N.J. Yoo, S.H. Lee, ErbB2 kinase domain mutation in the lung squamous cell carcinoma, Cancer Lett. 237 (2006) 89–94.
- [107] C. Willmore-Payne, J.A. Holden, L.J. Layfield, Detection of epidermal growth factor receptor and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 activating mutations in lung adenocarcinoma by high-resolution melting amplicon analysis: correlation with gene copy number, protein expression, and hormone receptor expression, Human Pathol. 37 (2006) 755–763.
- [108] Y.H. Soung, J.W. Lee, S.Y. Kim, Y.P. Wang, K.H. Jo, S.W. Moon, W.S. Park, S.W. Nam, J.Y. Lee, N.J. Yoo, S.H. Lee, Somatic mutations of the ErbB4 kinase domain in human cancers, Int. J. Cancer 118 (2006) 1426–1429.
- [109] H. Shigematsu, A.F. Gazdar, Somatic mutations of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathway in lung cancers, Int. J. Cancer 118 (2006) 257–262.
- [110] S.-F. Huang, H.-P. Liu, L.-H. Li, Y.-C. Ku, Y.-N. Fu, H.-Y. Tsai, Y.-T. Chen, Y.-F. Lin, W.-C. Chang, H.-P. Kuo, Y.-C. Wu, Y.-R. Chen, S.-F. Tsai, High frequency of epidermal growth factor receptor mutations with complex patterns in non-small cell lung cancers related to gefitinib responsiveness in Taiwan, Clin. Cancer Res. 10 (2004) 8195–8203.
- [111] T. Kosaka, Y. Yatabe, H. Endoh, H. Kuwano, T. Takahashi, T. Mitsudomi, Mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor gene in lung cancer: biological and clinical implications, Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 8919–8923.
- [112] C.M. Discafani, M.L. Carroll, M.B. Floyd Jr., I.J. Hollander, Z. Husain, B.D. Johnson, D. Kitchen, M.K. May, M.S. Malo, A.A. Minnick Jr., R. Nilakantan, R. Shen, Y.F. Wang, A. Wissner, L.M. Greenberger, Irreversible inhibition of epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase with *in vivo* activity by *N*-[4-[(3-bromophenyl)amino]-6-quinazolinyl]-2butynamide (CL-387,785), Biochem. Pharmacol. 57 (1999) 917–925.

- [113] M. Sonobe, T. Manabe, H. Wada, F. Tanaka, Lung adenocarcinoma harboring mutations in the ErbB2 kinase domain, J. Mol. Diagnostics 8 (2006) 351–356.
- [114] I.Y. Tam, L.P. Chung, W.S. Suen, E. Wang, M.C. Wong, K.K. Ho, W.K. Lam, S.W. Chiu, L. Girard, J.D. Minna, A.F. Gazdar, M.P. Wong, Distinct epidermal growth factor receptor and KRAS mutation patterns in non-small cell lung cancer patients with different tobacco exposure and clinicopathologic features, Clin. Cancer Res. 12 (2006) 1647–1653.
- [115] A. Bairoch, R. Apweiler, C.H. Wu, W.C. Barker, B. Boeckmann, S. Ferro, E. Gasteiger, H. Huang, R. Lopez, M. Magrane, M.J. Martin, D.A. Natale, C. O'Donovan, N. Redaschi, L.-S.L. Yeh, The universal protein resource (UniProt), Nucleic Acids Res. 33 (2005) D154–D159.
- [116] S. Altschul, T. Madden, A. Schaffer, J. Zhang, Z. Zhang, W. Miller, D. Lipman, Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs, Nucleic Acids Res. 25 (1997) 3389–3402.

- [117] R.C. Edgar, MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput, Nucleic Acids Res. 32 (2004) 1792–1797.
- [118] I. Mayrose, A. Mitchell, T. Pupko, Site-specific evolutionary rate inference: taking phylogenetic uncertainty into account, J. Mol. Evol. 60 (2005) 345–353.
- [119] M. Landau, I. Mayrose, Y. Rosenberg, F. Glaser, E. Martz, T. Pupko, N. Ben-Tal, ConSurf 2005: the projection of evolutionary conservation scores of residues on protein structures, Nucleic Acids Res. 33 (2005) W299–W302.
- [120] D. Petrey, Z. Xiang, C.L. Tang, L. Xie, M. Gimpelev, T. Mitros, C.S. Soto, S. Goldsmith-Fischman, A. Kernytsky, A. Schlessinger, I.Y. Koh, E. Alexov, B. Honig, Using multiple structure alignments, fast model building, and energetic analysis in fold recognition and homology modeling, Proteins 53 (2003) 430–435.
- [121] S. Sridharan, A. Nicholls, B. Honig, A new vertex algorithm to calculate solvent accessible surface area, Biophys. J. 61 (1992) A174.